Suicidality Among Individuals with a History of Criminal Behavior: A Test of The Three Step Theory of Suicide

By Krystal Lowe

A Thesis Submitted to Saint Mary's University, Halifax, Nova Scotia In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for The Degree of Master of Science in Applied Psychology (Forensic Stream)

August 2024, Halifax, Nova Scotia

© Krystal Lowe, 2024

Approved:	Dr. Marguerite Ternes Supervisor			
Approved:	Dr. Skye Stephens Examiner			
Approved:	Dr. Steven Carroll Examiner			
Approved:	Dr. Phillip Magaletta External examiner			
Date: August 30th, 2024				

Suicidality Among Individuals with a History of Criminal Behavior: A Test of the Three-Step Theory of Suicide

By Krystal Lowe

Abstract

Individuals involved in the criminal justice system (CJS) have higher rates of suicidal ideation than the general population and are at an increased risk of suicide. Assessing suicide risk is challenging, as research indicates that many suicide risk assessments are more predictive of suicidal ideation than suicide attempts. Therefore, there is a need to differentiate individuals who think about suicide from those at risk of attempting suicide. Drawing on a sample of 190 Canadian adults, this study examined an ideation-to-action theory, the Three-Step Theory of Suicide (3ST), among individuals with a history of criminal behavior. Lifetime prevalence of suicidal ideation was 82% for individuals with a history of criminal behavior (n = 89), with 23.6% having attempted suicide. Results demonstrated partial support for the 3ST, although the 3ST did not replicate as expected for individuals with a history of criminal behavior. Implications and directions for future research are discussed.

August 30th, 2024

Acknowledgements

I owe an immense amount of gratitude to the academic community at Saint Mary's University, who supported me throughout my journey as a Master's student. First, to my supervisor, Dr. Meg Ternes—thank you for being such an incredible mentor and guiding me through my graduate studies. Your genuine care and dedication have not only shaped my research but also fostered my growth as both a scholar and a person. Your support and empowerment have been invaluable, and I am deeply grateful for the opportunity to have worked with you.

To my committee members, Dr. Steven Carroll and Dr. Skye Stephens, thank you for your feedback and support throughout this process. It was a privilege to have both of you on my committee, as you have each had a profound impact on me throughout my undergraduate and graduate studies. From writing my first research paper on suicidality in Dr. Stephens' class during undergrad, to having Dr. Carroll guide me through statistics across both my undergraduate and graduate years—reminding us that we "didn't have to be the smartest person in the room, but we could be the hardest working"—you have both shaped my academic journey in meaningful ways.

To the researchers who came before me and chose to study the complex phenomena of suicidality, I extend my deepest appreciation. Your dedication to exploring and understanding this challenging and complex topic has laid the foundation for this research and the research I hope to do in the future. I feel honoured to have contributed to the ongoing development of knowledge related to suicide and ways to prevent it.

To the incredible cohort of women with whom I was fortunate to walk this path, thank you for being there and for being such an integral source of support throughout this degree. I am grateful to have found community and friendship through this process, and I am reminded that relationships are truly the foundation of success.

A special thank-you to my fiancé, David, for his endless love and support throughout this process. You helped me persevere through some of the most challenging moments, and your belief in me has been a constant source of strength. I could not have accomplished this without you by my side, and I am so grateful to have you as my partner in this journey and this life.

Finally, I would like to dedicate this thesis to the memory of my late father, Steven Pollard. You always reminded me of how far I had come, and your belief in me kept me going during the times when I felt like giving up. Losing you in graduate school was one of the hardest moments of my life, but I continued to persevere because I knew that's what you would have wanted. Your wisdom, love, and guidance continue to influence me every day. Thank you, Dad.

Table of Contents

Introduction	5
Defining Suicidal Ideation, Attempt, & Non-Suicidal Self-Injury	7
Suicidality Among Justice-Involved Individuals	8
Suicidality & Criminality: Overlapping Contributors	10
Challenges Assessing Suicide Risk	13
Ideation-to-Action Theories of Suicide	15
Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (Joiner, 2005)	16
Integrated Motivational-Volitional Model (O'Connor, 2011)	18
The Three Step Theory of Suicide (Klonsky & May, 2015)	19
Step One: Pain and Hopelessness Interact to Predict Suicidal Ideation	22
Step Two: Connectedness Protects Against the Progression from Ideation to Attempt	23
Step Three: Capacity Impacts the Progression from Ideation to Attempt	23
Empirical Evidence for The 3ST	24
Connecting The 3ST to Justice-Involved Populations	26
Present Study	29
Method	30
Participants	30
Procedure	32
Measures	34
Results	
Analyses for Step One of the 3ST	44
Analyses for Step Two of the 3ST	48
Analysis for Step Three of the 3ST	53
Discussion	55
Strengths & Limitations	60
Implications & Future Directions	62
Conclusion	65
References	66
Appendix A	79
Appendix B	84
Appendix C	86

Suicidality Among Individuals with a History of Behavior: A Test of The Three-Step Theory of Suicide

Suicidality is a significant public health issue that disproportionately affects marginalized and socially isolated individuals, including those who have been involved in the criminal justice system (CJS; Favril et al., 2020; Janca et al., 2022). Additionally, while it is estimated that over 700,000 suicides occur globally each year (Lovero et al., 2023), the rate of individuals who experience suicidal ideation or make non-lethal suicide attempts is even higher (Klonsky & May, 2014; Nock et al., 2008). Although the majority of those who experience suicidal ideation do not go on to attempt suicide, these individuals often suffer from a decreased quality of life (Klonksy et al., 2016), with persistent suicidal ideation over time significantly increasing risk for future attempts (Rudd et al., 2011). Thus, understanding the process by which suicidal ideation leads to suicidal behavior is critical to our ability to detect and prevent suicide. This is especially important for justice involved individuals, who have higher prevalence rates of suicidal ideation and self-injurious behavior than the general population (Zhong et al., 2021; Favril et al., 2020). These individuals also have higher rates of completed suicides when incarcerated (Power & Brown, 2010) and are seven times more likely to die by suicide post-release (Janca et al., 2022). Therefore, a more comprehensive understanding of these elevated risks is essential to improved assessment with the ultimate goal of reducing suicidality in this population.

Assessing suicide risk in justice-involved populations is a challenging endeavour that requires a holistic approach, one that recognizes the unique experiences of those within the CJS. Indeed, understanding suicide risk can allow scholars and practitioners to target specific risk factors, which may be shared or differ for those in contact with the CJS. However, while a handful of validated suicide screening tools exist (e.g., Suicide Risk Assessment Scale, Daigle et al., 2006; Suicide Probability Scale, Naud & Daigle, 2010; Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale, Posner et al., 2011), no currently available tool exceeds another in its ability to accurately predict suicide (Brown et al., 2017). Moreover, the assessment of suicide risk is often complicated by the fact that many of the most common risk factors for suicide are more predictive of suicidal ideation than suicide attempt (Klonsky & May, 2015; Klonksy et al., 2021). This disparity has clinical implications for those working in front-line roles, who may face challenges when trying to distinguish between the presence of suicidal ideation and the risk of a suicide attempt. Therefore, researchers have increasingly advocated for more holistic and comprehensive theories to inform the detection and prevention of suicide. One such approach has been the development of ideation-to-action theories of suicidal behavior and attempt to account for the process by which suicidal ideation progresses to suicidal behavior and attempts (Joiner, 2005; Klonksy & May, 2015; O'Connor, 2011).

Ideation-to-action theories propose that the transition from suicidal thoughts to behaviors is guided by distinct processes and factors (Klonksy et al., 2018). That is, what contributes to the development of suicidal ideation is related but different from what contributes to an individual's decision to take their own life (Klonksy et al., 2018). The Three-Step Theory of Suicide (3ST; Klonksy & May, 2015) is the most recent ideation-to-action theory, and it suggests that suicidal ideation develops through an individual's effort to reduce psychological pain in the absence of hope. More precisely, if someone experiences life as inherently painful and has no hope that their situation will improve, a desire to reduce that pain (end one's life) occurs (Dhringra et al., 2019; Klonksy et al., 2021). However, according to the 3ST, suicidal ideation only progresses to suicidal action when it is accompanied by low levels of connectedness and increased levels of capacity for suicide (Klonsky et al., 2021). These factors are also relevant to the experiences of

justice-involved individuals, given that research has identified pain and hopelessness as contributing factors to suicidality in this population (Favril et al., 2020; Mills et al., 2005; Moore et al., 2021), and that many justice-involved people encounter barriers to maintaining meaningful connections (Carr & Ponce, 2022; Zhong et al., 2021).

To date, the 3ST has been explored with clinical populations (Tsai et al., 2021), postsecondary students, (Dhringra et al., 2019), and the general public (Klonsky & May, 2015). The theory has yet to be examined with justice-involved populations or individuals who engage in criminal behavior but do not have any justice involvement. The present study begins to address this gap by testing the 3ST among individuals who have a history of criminal behavior or involvement with the CJS. Considering that rates of suicidality are disproportionately higher among justice-involved people (Cramer et al., 2017; Favril et al., 2020), and that the 3ST outlines many factors relevant to justice-involved individuals, this theory may offer valuable insight and utility for suicide risk assessment and treatment with this population.

Defining Suicidal Ideation, Attempt, & Non-Suicidal Self-Injury

The phenomenon of suicidality is multifaceted and complex, consisting of a wide range of behaviors and cognitions (Gvion et al., 2015). Suicidality is a term that encompasses suicide ideation, attempts, and non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI; Cramer et al., 2017). These terms are frequently operationalized inconsistently across the literature, which has been noted as a limitation to the progression of suicide research and theory (Klonsky et al., 2016). The following section provides a brief overview of how these terms are defined in the present paper.

First, suicidal ideation refers to thinking about, planning, or having a desire to die by suicide (Harmer et al., 2022). The intensity of suicidal ideation can vary from passive to active ideation, and it can range from thoughts of wanting to die or not wake up, to preoccupations with

violently injuring oneself (Harmer et al., 2022). Second, NSSI is generally defined as causing bodily harm to oneself that is not socially acceptable, without the intent to die (Power & Usher, 2011). People who engage in NSSI do so for a variety of reasons, including to regulate themselves or to reduce negative affective states (Klonsky & May, 2015; Walker et al., 2020). Similar to suicidal ideation, the frequency and intensity of NSSI can fluctuate. Common examples of NSSI include self-harming through cutting or burning oneself, skin carving, banging one's head against a wall, and punching or hitting oneself (Cramer et al., 2017; Klonksy et al., 2016). Lastly, attempted suicide refers to a person's nonfatal effort to cause harm to themselves with the intent to die, regardless of whether the attempt results in injury. Suicide refers to death caused by self-directed violence with the intent to die (Klonsky et al., 2016).

Suicidality Among Justice-Involved Individuals

Individuals who come into contact with the criminal justice system are increasingly more likely to experience suicidality than those without any criminal justice involvement (Jones & Maynard, 2013; Favril et al., 2020). For example, in a prison sample of 3139 inmates, Jenkins et al. (2004) found that 40% of men and 55% percent of women had experienced thoughts of suicide in their lifetime, where Power and Brown (2010) have outlined that the prevalence of NSSI among incarcerated individuals in Canada is upwards of 32%, and data continues to demonstrate that suicide is one of the leading causes of mortality in prisons (Butler et al., 2018; Marzano et al., 2016). This phenomenon has been attributed to a variety of potential factors, such as the increased prevalence of mental health and substance use disorders among this population, as well as histories of trauma, victimization, and social disadvantage, all of which have been linked to increased risk of both suicide and criminal offending (Janka et al., 2022). Moreover, the stress and isolation associated with incarceration, along with the stigma of a criminal record, may exacerbate existing mental health issues and feelings of hopelessness, thus elevating risk for suicidality (Gullotta et al., 2021).

However, true prevalence estimates of suicidality among individuals who are justiceinvolved are difficult to obtain due to the relative paucity of research on suicide in corrections (Cramer et al., 2017), methodological barriers (Hayes, 2013), and barriers to accessing populations of individuals who are serving their sentences in the community, who are on remand, or who have been charged but not convicted of a crime (Webb et al., 2011). In addition, the focus of suicide research with this population often involves prison samples, which excludes a large proportion of individuals who have had contact with the CJS but who have not been incarcerated, or individuals who have engaged in criminal behavior but who have not come to the attention of law enforcement. Specifically, there are many types of illegal activities that are less likely to be reported, and therefore, less is known about individuals who engage in illegal behavior but do not come to the attention of law enforcement. This may include perpetrators of domestic or sexual violence, or individuals who engage in illicit substance use, theft, financial crimes, or other nonviolent crimes.

With that said, some research has outlined the experiences of individuals within the community who have had some form of contact with the justice system. For instance, King et al. (2015) found that 13% of all suicides in the United Kingdom involved individuals with some form of criminal justice experience leading up to their death. In their study, suicide risk was elevated for individuals who had received a police caution, completed a community sentence, been on remand, or were recently released from prison (King et al., 2015). Similarly, Linsley et al. (2007) conducted a study that looked at police contact in the months leading up to death by suicide. In their sample of 205 cases of suicide deaths, Linsley et al. (2007) found that 12% (n =

24) had contact with the police as an accused within the 3-month period leading up to their death. Additionally, 3.4% (n = 7) of individuals who had contact with the police as both a victim and accused within the 3-month period took their own lives. Overall, these findings highlight the importance of conducting additional research on suicidality among individuals who engage in criminal behavior but who do not necessarily receive prison sentences, and they shed light on the intersections between suicidality and criminality.

Suicidality & Criminality: Overlapping Contributors

Traditional responses to suicidality tend to be pathology-oriented and guided by the medical model (White et al., 2015), which largely ignores social factors that contribute to suicide risk. Although there are several factors on the individual level that make some people more vulnerable to suicidality than others, there are also factors that exist on a broader social level that serve to exacerbate pre-existing vulnerabilities; together, the combination of social and individual factors come to form each persons' unique risk profile (O'Conner & Nock, 2015). For instance, rates of suicidality are notably higher among those who experience poverty (Stack, 2021), who have low educational attainment or who experience social marginalization and discrimination (e.g., individuals who identify as 2SLGBTQI+, racialized individuals; Shepherd et al., 2023; Wiglesworth et al., 2022). Additionally, there is substantial overlap between social factors contributing to suicidality and social factors associated with criminal behaviour. For instance, issues of homelessness or transient living, barriers to accessing healthcare, and the lack of positive support networks often observed in the lives of justice-involved people have been found to contribute to an individual's inability to cope effectively with their circumstances (Nishar et al., 2023). These factors also have important implications for recidivism. To illustrate, previous research has found that individuals who are employed, housed, and who have strong family ties

or positive peer supports are less likely to recidivate (Bonta & Andrews, 2023; Berg & Heubner, 2011; Mowen & Boman, 2018).

The overlap of factors related to both offending and self-directed violence (i.e., suicidality) emphasizes the importance of addressing broader social issues that may better inform prevention and intervention strategies. As noted by Klonksy and May (2015), any intervention designed to address suicidality should decrease pain and hopelessness, increase connectedness, and reduce capacity. Through the lens of the 3ST, we can begin to understand the ways in which social issues and risk factors for suicide impact pain, hopelessness, connectedness, and capacity for suicide.

Risk Factors for Suicidality

While risk-relevant factors for suicide among justice-involved people are similar to those in the general population (e.g., emotion dysregulation, social isolation, family history of suicide, and mental illness, etc.; Labrecque & Patry, 2018), some factors are uniquely exacerbated by criminal trajectories and correctional institutions (Edgeman & Clay-Warner, 2019; Hensel et al., 2020). For instance, many people who come into contact with the criminal justice system have done so through pathways of social marginalization (Roy et al., 2016; Yessine & Bonta, 2009), childhood maltreatment (Hughes et al., 2020) and intergenerational trauma (Cesaroni et al.,2018), each of which have the potential to elevate the risk for mental health challenges. To illustrate, Hensel et al. (2020) reported that over a third (38.9%) of all justice-involved people in Canada suffer some form of mental illness.

Social marginalization, aversive childhood experiences, and mental illness have each been linked to increased risk for suicidality in the general population (Dozois, 2019). However, these factors are also present for justice-involved populations. In a global systematic review of 77 studies, Zhong et al. (2021) investigated risk factors associated with prison suicides. Overall, the most prevalent risk factors included a) the presence of suicidal ideation, b) a history attempted suicide, c) a history of self-injurious behavior, d) residing in a single cell, and e) having a psychiatric diagnosis. Additionally, several characteristics have been associated with increased lethality of suicide attempts in prison, including decreased use of substances, positive staff interactions, and the presence of a personality disorder (Magaletta et al., 2008). Therefore, many scholars have argued that the environment of incarceration itself is a substantial risk factor for suicidality (Cramer et al., 2017; Gooding et al., 2017), where increases in social isolation, hopelessness, and loss of autonomy each contribute to institutional risk factors for suicide among people with underlying vulnerabilities (Office of the Correctional Investigator of Canada, 2014).

The ways in which these factors interact and contribute to suicidal ideation or attempt among some people and not others remain unknown. Some preliminary research has suggested that psychological pain and a lack of social connectedness within prisons have been linked to the progression from suicide ideation to attempt (Favril et al., 2020), whereas others have suggested that exposure to stress and feeling hopeless about the future increase suicide risk for people in the justice system (Moore et al., 2021). Nevertheless, the diversity of risk factors for suicidality prompts a need to differentiate justice-involved individuals who think about suicide from those who attempt or are at risk of attempting suicide (Favril & O'Connor, 2019) That is, there is an important distinction to be made between those who experience suicidal ideation only and those who go on to attempt suicide (Klonsky et al., 2021).

Previous research has identified several factors among justice-involved individuals that differentiate those with a history of ideation from those with a history of attempting suicide. For

example, in a sample of 17,891 incarcerated men in the United States, Favril et al. (2020) compared individuals who attempted suicide to those who had experienced suicidal ideation but never made an attempt. Twenty-four percent of this sample had a lifetime history of suicidal ideation, whereas 14% had a lifetime history of attempted suicide. Overall, the authors found that those who had attempted suicide were more likely to be violent offenders, more likely to have a history of sexual and/or physical trauma, and more likely to have a traumatic brain injury compared to those who had only experienced suicidal ideation. Favril and O'Connor (2021) found similar results in their Belgian sample of 1326 adult offenders, where 44% reported a lifetime history of suicidal ideation, and 47% reported having attempted suicide in the past. In their study, Favril and O'Connor (2021) discovered that factors of substance use, self-reported mental health disorders, and violent offending differentiated between those with ideation and those who had attempted suicide.

Challenges Assessing Suicide Risk

The detection and prevention of suicide is a persistent challenge within correctional institutions (Cramer et al., 2017), and it is associated with a high cost to human life, while it also threatens the well-being of staff and introduces a heavy financial burden for society and institutions through the consumption of resources (Brown & Power, 2010). Thus, the issue of suicide risk remains an important priority, and there are several approaches to suicide risk screening in Canadian correctional environments. Most notably, the suicide screening tools used by the Correctional Service Canada (CSC) include the Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale (Posner et al., 2011), the Suicide Potential Scale (Wichman et al., 2001), the Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (Mills & Kroner, 2005), the Suicide Risk Assessment Scale (Daigle et al., 2006), and the Suicide Probability Scale (Naud & Daigle, 2010).

While the existing instruments have provided utility in combination with clinical judgement, a review of existing screening tools used by the CSC has indicated that no tool exceeds another in its ability to accurately detect suicide risk (i.e., attempted or completed suicide; Brown et al., 2017). It also remains unknown whether the existing measures can accurately detect individuals at risk of suicide, given a multitude of individual and systemic barriers (Gould et al., 2017), and the need to differentiate between ideation and attempt. Some individual barriers include misunderstandings of test items due to cultural differences and a reluctance to self-disclose vulnerabilities, whereas systemic barriers consist of time restraints with incarcerated persons and variability in training received by those administering risk assessments (Gould et al., 2017).

Despite the challenges in assessing suicide risk, the CSC has implemented a suicide prevention strategy that outlines the assessment and management of suicidal inmates in federal institutions. The strategy includes suicide screening upon arrival, staff training for suicide prevention, suggestions for suicide watch and modifications of the physical environment, and intervention procedures (Office of the Correctional Investigator of Canada [OCI], 2014). Unfortunately, the most recent and publicly available information about CSC's policies for suicide prevention is a decade old, where the OCI (2014) mentioned that CSC does not lack an evidence-based policy for suicide prevention; instead, institutions have fallen short in effectively implementing strategies at all levels of the correctional environment. Arguably, curtailed efforts towards effectively detecting and preventing suicide may largely be due to institutions being understaffed and underfunded (Cramer et al., 2017), as well as the challenges in differentiating between suicidal ideation and attempt (Favril & O'Connor, 2019). Finally, less is known about the procedures of provincial institutions as they relate to the detection and prevention of suicide,

although there have been several suicide-related deaths in recent years that have garnered media attention, many of which occurred while the individual was awaiting trial and have been attributed to understaffing. (for details on these cases, see Bousquet, 2024; Bowden, 2023; Ryan, 2024; Tutton, 2024). With that said, ideation-to-action theories of suicide may enhance the abilities of institutions and other settings dealing with high-risk populations to better detect and prevent suicide. The following section provides an introduction to ideation-to-action theories of suicide, with a particular focus on the 3ST.

Ideation-to-Action Theories of Suicide

Several theories have contributed to the progression of suicide research, many of which have focused on aspects related to social integration, psychological pain, negative reinforcement, isolation, and hopelessness (Durkheim, 1951; Joiner, 2005; Klonsky & May, 2014; O'Conner, 2011). Since the early 2000s, researchers and practitioners have proposed and built upon "ideation-to-action" theories of suicide to account for the process by which suicidal ideation develops and leads to suicidal behaviors. As briefly mentioned previously, ideation-to-action theories of suicide attempt to account for the differences between suicidal ideation alone and the progression of suicidal ideation to suicide attempts (Klonsky et al., 2018). The current leading ideation-to-action theory that has garnered the most empirical support is Joiner's (2005) Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (IPTS), followed by O'Conner's (2011) Integrated Motivational-Volitational Model (IMV), and most recently, Klonsky and May's (2015) Three-Step Theory of Suicide. The following section provides a brief introduction to these theories, followed by a more detailed exploration of the 3ST and its potential relevance to suicidality among justice-involved populations.

Interpersonal Theory of Suicide (Joiner, 2005)

The IPTS suggests that both the presence of suicidal ideation *and* the capacity to follow through are necessary for attempted and completed suicides. According to Joiner (2005), an individual's desire to live is driven by two fundamental human needs: connection and interpersonal effectiveness. Conversely, the desire to end one's life is driven by an individual's perceived burdensomeness and sense of thwarted belongingness. That is, if someone perceives themselves to be a problem to others, or that their presence negatively affects the people around them, they may consider themselves as ineffective, burdensome members of society (Joiner, 2005; Van Orden et al., 2015). Additionally, if an individual's inherent need to belong is not met, whether that is through family ties or general social connectedness, that person may experience a sense of isolation and loneliness (Joiner, 2005; Van Orden et al., 2015). Therefore, according to the IPTS, it is the combination of perceived burdensomeness and thwarted belongingness that contributes to an individual's desire to die, but it is not enough to meaningfully predict whether they will go on to attempt suicide (Chu et al., 2017; Van Orden et al., 2015).

The second aspect of Joiner's (2005) theory elaborates on the conditions that contribute to the progression from ideation to attempt, where an individual must have acquired the ability to die by suicide. While acquired ability includes access to lethal means, it also includes more nuanced components. For instance, acquired capacity could include a person's pain threshold, biological predisposition to impulsivity, prior exposure to violence or trauma, or habituation to pain through prior self-harm (Klonsky et al., 2018). In sum, the IPTS suggests that those with high levels of perceived burdensomeness, thwarted belongingness, and acquired capability would be at an elevated risk for suicide.

A considerable body of research has emerged since the development of the IPTS, and a handful of studies have synthesized findings on its theoretical assumptions. For instance, Ma et al. (2016) conducted a systematic review of studies examining the central components of the IPTS. Their review yielded 66 studies that outlined mixed results for the theory's predictions. Ma et al. (2016) found the most studies focused on the effect of perceived burdensomeness (i.e., I am a burden to others) on suicidal ideation, where 22.6% focused on the main effect of thwarted belongingness (i.e., lack of connection) on suicidal ideation, and even fewer studies focused on the main effect and interactions for suicide capability (i.e., capacity for suicide). A handful of studies in the review found that the interaction between perceived burdensomeness and thwarted belongingness on suicidal ideation was stronger at high levels of perceived burdensomeness, and several studies found that thwarted belongingness predicted suicidal ideation across various samples (Ma et al., 2016). However, of those studies that looked at thwarted belongingness, over half were non-significant. Ma et al. (2016) attributes these non-significant findings to other covariates beyond perceived burdensomeness. Additionally, among studies where thwarted belongingness was significant, this construct accounted for only 6% of the variance in suicidal ideation.

In a later systematic review and meta-analysis, Chu et al. (2017) found support for the IPTS, although studies were sometimes mixed and many effect sizes for the central components of the IPTS ranged from small to moderate. Their meta-analysis reported effects from 114 articles consisting of 122 samples. Overall, Chu et al. (2017) found weak to moderate relationships between higher levels of thwarted belongingness and more severe suicidal ideation, as well as small effect sizes for the relationship between suicide capacity and suicide attempts. Thus, while the IPTS has been a valuable framework for understanding suicidal ideation and behavior, the

mixed support for this theory underscores a need for continued refinement and consideration of other models of suicidality. Importantly, the IPTS has been instrumental in laying the foundation for the development of other ideation-to-action theories of suicide.

Integrated Motivational-Volitional Model (O'Connor, 2011)

O'Conner (2011) later expanded on the IPTS by introducing a phased model of suicidality that is grounded in the Theory of Planned Behavior (Icek, 1991). Within the IMV, O'Conner (2011) proposed that suicidal ideation results from a combination of the pre-motivational phase and the motivational phase, whereas suicidal behavior (SIB, NSSI, and attempts) comprises the volitional phase. These phases are an amalgamation of diathesis-stress factors (biological predispositions and environmental variables) and an individual's cognitive appraisal of events concerning defeat, humiliation, and entrapment (O'Conner, 2011). Within the IMV, the premotivation phase encompasses biological, psychological, and environmental vulnerabilities that are hypothesized to contribute to heightened risk of experiencing a sense of defeat and entrapment in the presence of life stressors (O'Connor & Kirtley, 2018). The motivational phase proposes that suicidal ideation develops from defeat and humiliation, which leads to an individual feeling a sense of unavoidable entrapment within one's circumstances, especially where there is a sense of "threat to self" which can include a variety of psychological factors such as social problems or a propensity towards rumination (O'Connor & Kirtley, 2018). That is, those who feel trapped within their circumstances may view suicide as a way to escape these aversive states. Lastly, the volitional phase encompasses the relationship between suicidal ideation and behavior, where suicidal ideation can contribute to suicidal behavior through various moderators, such as access to lethal means.

Although the IMV is a less parsimonious theory compared to the IPTS and 3ST, it has also contributed to the progression of suicide research and ideation-to-action theories of suicide. It has been subject to less research compared to the IPTS, although a review by Souza et al. (2024) recently synthesized findings from 100 studies exploring the IMV, where results provided partial support for O'Connor's (2015) model of defeat and entrapment on suicidal ideation. Overall, results supported the pre-motivational phase of the IMV, where various factors contributed to an individual's vulnerability towards defeat and entrapment, although concerns were raised in a handful of studies regarding the generalizability of these findings (Souza et al., 2024). In terms of the motivational phase, the majority of studies in this review found evidence for the pathways from defeat and entrapment towards suicidal ideation. However, a range of moderators for motivations and "threat to self" factors revealed mixed findings, as did results for the volitional phase.

Ultimately, the IMV attempts to combine previous knowledge of suicidal ideation and behaviour to propose a predictive model of suicide risk that is determined by stage-specific variables (O'Conner, 2011), and the factors outlined in the model have received some empirical support. However, there remains a need for a model that can more distinctly differentiate between suicidal ideation and suicide attempts.

The Three Step Theory of Suicide (Klonsky & May, 2015)

Although both Joiner (2005) and O'Conner (2011) made important contributions to the suicidality literature, Klonsky and May (2015) argued that these theories still fell short in distinguishing motivations for suicidal behavior from the presence of suicidal ideation. Therefore, building upon previous theories, Klonsky and May (2015) proposed the 3ST, suggesting that suicide risk can be better understood through four factors: pain, hopelessness, connectedness and

capacity. By focusing on just four factors, rather than a wide range of variables, the 3ST offers a more straightforward and parsimonious framework that may be useful in contributing to our understanding of suicide risk.

Klonksy and May (2015) define pain as primarily psychological, although they intentionally do not delineate the type of pain. According to the 3ST, and guided by behavioral psychology, pain can arise from various sources that shape behavior, similar to punishment (Klonksy & May, 2015). Therefore, the construct of psychache is most often used to operationally define pain in 3ST studies, where psychache refers to the experience of intense psychological pain that is not context-specific and is distinct from other forms of psychological distress (e.g., depression; Pereira et al., 2010). The construct of hopelessness within the 3ST is in line with Beck et al.'s (1974) conceptualization, where hopelessness refers to a cognitive state characterized by negative expectations of the self, the future, and the world. Connectedness, on the other hand, is broadly defined and refers to any portion of a person's life that provides them with a reason and purpose to live (Klonsky et al., 2021). For instance, connectedness may encompass a person's affiliation with their community, kinship ties with family or friends, or a bond with a pet (Klonksy et al., 2021). Within 3ST studies, connectedness is most often operationally defined using the belongingness subscale of the Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire used in IPTS studies (Van Orden et al., 2015). Lastly, the 3ST defines capacity as the acquired, dispositional, and/or practical capability for suicide. Acquired capacity involves factors a person has learned throughout their life regarding fear and pain and whether they have habituated to these factors through experience (Klonsky et al., 2021). Experiences that increase a person's acquired capability may include a previous history of abuse, NSSI, self-injurious or reckless behavior, or drug use. On the other hand, dispositional capacity is associated with a person's

environmental and genetic predispositions surrounding pain tolerance and avoidance (Klonsky et al., 2021). For instance, individuals who are highly sensitive to pain or have a phobia of blood would have low dispositional capacity towards suicide and vice versa (Klonksy et al., 2021) Lastly, practical capacity encompasses a person's ability to engage in a suicide attempt through their familiarity with lethal means and their ability to acquire them (Klonsky et al., 2021). The following section provides an overview of how these factors can be understood and conceptualized through each step of the 3ST, which occur in logical, not chronological, order (Klonsky et al., 2021).

According to the 3ST, it is the interaction between pain and hopelessness that contributes to the development of suicidal ideation, whereas connectedness can moderate this relationship by either increasing or decreasing the severity of ideation. Moreover, the progression from ideation to attempt occurs in the absence of connectedness, but only if there is a presence of dispositional, acquired, or practical capacity. Therefore, proponents of this theory suggest that any program or intervention designed to reduce suicide should a) decrease pain, b) increase hope, c) foster connectedness, and d) reduce capacity (Dhringra et al., 2019; Klonsky et al., 2021).

Importantly, the 3ST does not discount the presence of empirically supported risk factors for suicide. Rather, the 3ST is a way of understanding the effect of these risk factors on pain, hopelessness, connectedness, and suicide capability (Klonksy et al., 2021). For example, if depression was a prominent risk factor for an individual, one would look at how an individual's depression impacts their pain, their hope regarding the future, and their ability to connect with others. Viewing risk factors for suicide through the lens of the 3ST may be particularly useful in practice, where practitioners can target risk factors and their influence on each of the proposed components within the 3ST. A visual overview of the 3ST is presented in Figure 1. For a more

comprehensive understanding of these components, a summary of each step of the 3ST is presented below.

Figure 1

Klonksy and May's (2015) conceptualization of the 3ST.



Step One: Pain and Hopelessness Interact to Predict Suicidal Ideation.

Step One of the 3ST describes that both pain and hopelessness must be present for the development of suicidal ideation. That is, pain alone is not sufficient to create a desire to die by suicide (Klonsky et al., 2021); someone may report painful emotions, but if they are hopeful that these emotions are impermanent, then hope will alleviate pain. The first step of the 3ST aligns with the behavioral view of negative reinforcement. For instance, Klonksy et al. (2021) have

described how human beings are biologically inclined to avoid pain as it is an adaptive response that assists in our species' survival. Similarly, if an individual experiences life as inherently painful, then a desire to reduce that pain occurs. Suicidal ideation and behaviors can be viewed as a response to reduce such pain, and these responses can become maintained by their negatively reinforcing qualities (Nelson-Grey et al., 2007). In addition, Klonsky and May (2015) have proposed that if the desire to reduce such pain is accompanied by feelings of hopelessness, then there is a greater probability that suicide ideation will develop.

Step Two: Connectedness Protects Against the Progression from Ideation to Attempt

Step Two of the 3ST expands on the progression from ideation to action, suggesting that a person's sense of connectedness is an essential moderator for pain (Klonsky et al., 2021). More precisely, if an individual's level of pain transcends their sense of connectedness, their likelihood of experiencing more severe suicide ideation increases (Klonsky et al., 2021). In contrast, if their sense of connectedness outweighs their levels of pain, their inclination toward harming themselves is reduced (Klonsky et al., 2021). However, while connectedness can protect against the progression of suicidal ideation, there are also situations in which a person has high connectedness, but their experiences of pain are so severe that their ability to fully experience connectedness is suppressed (Klonsky et al., 2021).

Step Three: Capacity Impacts the Progression from Ideation to Attempt

Finally, Step Three illustrates the circumstances surrounding an individual's capacity, or capability, to follow through with a suicide attempt. While reducing access to lethal means (firearms, adding fences to bridges, etc.) has been a primary focus of suicide prevention, both Joiner (2005) and Klonsky et al. (2021) suggest that capacity for suicide goes beyond an individual's access to lethal means and is composed of acquired, dispositional, and practical

capabilities. According to the 3ST, capability is grounded in the ability to mitigate the fear of suicide, while also having practical ability to attempt suicide (Klonksy et al., 2021). Additionally, one does not need to meet all three subtypes of capability outlined in the theory, they can simply have met the threshold for one or all three subtypes.

Empirical Evidence for The 3ST

In Step One of the initial study examining the 3ST, Klonksy and May (2015) hypothesized that an interaction between pain and hopelessness would predict suicidal ideation, and that this interaction would predict suicidal ideation above and beyond the model proposed by Joiner (2005), which suggested that perceived burdensomeness and thwarted belongingness interact to predict suicidal ideation. Next, for Step Two, Klonksy and May (2015) hypothesized that connectedness would protect against suicidal ideation for individuals high on both pain and hopelessness. Finally, for Step Three, the authors hypothesized that suicide capacity (dispositional, acquired, and practical) would differentiate those who have attempted suicide from those who have experienced suicidal ideation only (Klonksy & May, 2015). These hypotheses were examined with a sample of 910 individuals in the United States recruited through Amazon Mechanical Turk, of which 191 indicated having a history of suicidal ideation or attempt.

Klonsky and May (2015) found strong support for all three hypotheses in this study. For Step One, the authors found that pain (r = .55) and hopelessness (r = .57) were significantly related to suicidal ideation, and strongly related to one another (r = .63). In addition, the authors reported a significant interaction between pain and hopelessness (t = 6.35, p < .001), where suicidal ideation increased as hopelessness increased, and where the model accounted for 41% of the variance in suicidal ideation (Klonsky & May, 2015). For Step Two, connectedness was assessed using the belongingness subscale of the Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire, which is also used in studies examining Joiner's (2005) Interpersonal Theory of Suicide. Results from the analysis for Step Two revealed that a) connectedness was related to suicidal ideation among those high on both pain and hopelessness (r = .36; n = 283), and b) connectedness predicted lower levels of suicidal ideation for those high on both pain and hopelessness compared to everyone else (Klonsky & May, 2015). Lastly, for Step Three, the authors used a series of *t*-tests to compare suicide capacity between individuals with a history of ideation but no attempt (n = 246) to those with a history of attempt (n = 127). Findings from these analyses revealed that suicide capacity significantly differed between the ideation and attempt subgroups (d = .42, p < .001).

Since its publication in 2015, the 3ST has garnered considerable interest. It has been applied among practitioners in suicide prevention and intervention, included in continuing education courses, and has been the subject of several replication studies (Klonksy et al., 2021). For instance, Yang and colleagues (2018) replicated the findings of the original 3ST study in a sample of 1,097 post-secondary students in China. Similarly, Dhringra et al. (2019) designed and executed a replication study in the United Kingdom with 665 post-secondary students. Results from this study were highly similar to Klonsky and May's (2015) study, where all three hypotheses were strongly supported. The 3ST has also been examined with psychiatric patients in British Columbia, where Tsai et al. (2021) used measures from the 3ST to examine each hypothesis at baseline (intake of the patient), 4 weeks following baseline, and 3 months following discharge from the hospital. Tsai et al. (2021) found full support for Steps One and Two, where results from previous study replicated in their sample. However, the authors only found partial support for Step Three of the theory. Specifically, only practical capacity was strongly associated with histories of attempts and future attempts following discharge, whereas dispositional and acquired capacity had weak relationships to past and future attempts (Tsai et al., 2021). Despite

partial support for Step Three, this study was the first to provide evidence for the utility of the 3ST, especially Steps One and Two, in clinical environments. Steps One and Two of the 3ST were also evaluated in a cross-sectional, longitudinal study by Pachkowski et al. (2021), who were interested in developing a better understanding of suicidal desire (e.g., suicidal ideation) through the 3ST. Pachkowski et al. (2021) replicated findings for Steps One and Two in a sample of 487 adults in British Columbia, where their findings also provided support for the 3ST's utility in predicting future suicidal desire.

In sum, studies have shown that when pain and hopelessness are present, and a person's pain exceeds their levels of connectedness, they are at a higher risk of attempting suicide (Dhringra et al., 2019; Klonksy & May, 2015; Yang et al., 2018). Additionally, the risk is significantly greater when lack of connectedness and increased pain corresponds with high acquired, dispositional, and/or practical capability for suicide. Taken together, these studies provide strong empirical support for the 3ST across different populations and settings, and highlight its importance as a tool for both research and practice. It is important to continue replicating these findings among other populations in order to extend the validity of the 3ST and suicide research more broadly. To our knowledge, and despite the overlap of risk factors, the 3ST has not yet been examined among individuals who have engaged in criminal behavior or have been involved in the CJS. Therefore, the following section will provide a synopsis of how the central tenets of the 3ST may apply to justice-involved individuals, before presenting the current study and its findings.

Connecting The 3ST to Justice-Involved Populations

The 3ST proposes that suicide risk can be understood through the lens of just four factors (Klonksy & May 2015), and although the 3ST has yet to be examined with justice-involved

populations, these same four factors have been outlined in the suicidality literature involving this population. For instance, both psychological pain and a lack of connectedness among incarcerated individuals have been linked to the progression from suicidal ideation to attempt (Favril et al., 2020). In addition, the construct of hopelessness has been investigated in several studies involving prison populations (Gooding et al., 2016; Moore et al., 2021; Palmer & Connelly, 2005; Wolff et al., 2011), where many justice-involved individuals also report significant exposure to stress and high rates of hopelessness that their situation will improve (Moore et al., 2021). Moreover, some research has found that hopelessness was a significant predictor of suicide in this population (Chapman et al., 2011; Gooding et al., 2016), and that hopelessness predicted suicidality better than factors outlined by the IMV, such as entrapment (Gooding et al., 2016). Similarly, factors associated with painful experiences have been found to contribute to suicidal ideation in this population (Favril et al., 2020), where some research has even explored the 3ST's measurement of pain (i.e., psychache) with offender populations. Specifically, Mill et al.'s (2005) study sought to extend the generalizability of Schneidman's (1993) Psychache Scale with justice-involved individuals and found tentative support for the role of psychache among inmates who were suicidal. Additional research compared inmates and university students on the Psychache Scale, and found that psychache, compared to depression and hopelessness, were the strongest predictors of suicidality for both populations (Pereira et al., 2010). Thus, it is possible that the combination of pain and hopelessness as they relate to suicidal ideation may be particularly relevant to individuals who have a history of criminal behavior or involvement with the CJS.

A further component of the 3ST that may be particularly relevant to justice-involved populations is the ability for connectedness to protect against the progression from ideation to attempt. Connectedness is an important area of consideration regarding inmates due to the isolated nature of incarceration, where previous research has indicated that close social and familial ties act as strong protective factors against suicidality for incarcerated individuals (Zhong et al., 2021). Additionally, research has outlined a robust positive correlation between an individual's desire to live and their level of social connectedness within correctional environments (Cramer et al., 2017). Taken together, these studies provide preliminary justification for the implementation of protective strategies aimed at increasing connectedness, which is reflective of step two of the 3ST.

Lastly, justice-involved people may also encounter variables that heighten their vulnerability towards Klonsky et al.'s (2021) conceptualizations of acquired, dispositional, and practical capacity for suicide. Evidence has pointed towards the impact of aversive childhood experiences, such as maltreatment and neglect, on one's risk of engaging in criminal or antisocial behavior in adulthood (Lee et al., 2015). Similarly, neglect and abuse in childhood have been found to predict later suicidality (Christoffersen et al., 2007). These factors are in accordance with acquired capability, as they contribute to the habituation of pain through repeated exposures to distressing events. Additionally, rates of impulsivity and risk-seeking behaviors are notably higher among individuals involved with the CJS compared to those who are not (Carroll et al., 2006), and impulsivity has been noted as a potent risk factor for suicidal behavior (Javdani et al., 2011) while it has been previously linked to neuro-cerebral development (Manceux et al., 2015). Furthermore, the biological foundations of impulsivity lend to a dispositional capacity for suicide (e.g., decreased fear of pain or death; Klonsky et al., 2021). Lastly, it could be argued that some individuals who have come in contact with the CJS have knowledge about and access to suicide methods (drugs, weapons etc.), which relates to practical capacity. Hence, the similarities between components of 3ST and individuals involved with the CJS underscore a need to empirically examine how this theory may, or may not, apply to this population.

Present Study

The present study sought to replicate previous findings from 3ST studies and extend them to populations of individuals who had engaged in criminal behavior or had been involved in the CJS. Specifically, this study examined the extent to which each step of the 3ST generalized to individuals with a history of criminality or involvement in the CJS compared to individuals with no history of criminality or CJS involvement. To date, the application of the 3ST to this population has been unexplored. Therefore, this study aimed to make a unique contribution to the literature, as it is the first investigation of the 3ST in relation to individuals who have engaged in criminal behavior. The present study was guided by the following hypotheses:

Hypothesis One. It is expected that a) both pain and hopelessness will interact to significantly predict suicidal ideation, and that b) this interaction will predict suicidal ideation for both groups, but more strongly for those with a history of criminal behavior and CJS involvement.

Hypothesis Two. It is expected that connectedness will protect against increasing suicidal ideation for those high on both pain and hopelessness.

Hypothesis Three. It is expected that a) total levels of capacity (dispositional, acquired, and practical) will be lower for those with suicidal ideation only, and higher for those with a history of attempt, and b) that those with a history of attempt and criminal behavior and CJS involvement will score higher on all levels of capacity compared to those without.

In addition, given the high prevalence of trauma in populations of individuals who have engaged in criminal behavior, and the relationship between trauma and many of the factors outlined in the 3ST (e.g., pain, capacity, etc.), an exploratory analysis of trauma among this population was also conducted. Specifically, this analysis aimed to examine the frequency and types of trauma experienced within the sample for descriptive purposes in order to contextualize findings.

Method

Participants

An a priori power analysis was conducted using G*Power. Results indicated that a total sample of 192 participants would be required to achieve a statistical power of .90 for detecting a medium effect, assuming unequal groups. An initial sample of 216 Canadian citizens over the age of 18 took part in an online study, however, 26 participants were removed from the final analyses due to incomplete data. Of the 26 participants that were removed, 7 were screened out as potential bots and the remaining were screened out for finishing less than 50% of the survey, leaving 190 participants in the final analysis. Of those participants, the majority identified as female (76.1%), followed by male (18.3%), non-binary (2.5%) and transgender (1%). Over half of the sample identified as heterosexual (67.5%), with the remaining sample identifying with the LGBTQ+ community (26.4%), or other (e.g., "unsure" or "prefer not to answer;" 6.1%). The average age was 25.8 years (SD = 8.71, range = 19-64) for the entire sample, where SONA participants (i.e., participants recruited from Saint Mary's Unviersity for course credit; n = 125) had an average age of 22 (SD = 4.12, range = 19-52) and community participants (n = 65) had an average age of 34 (SD = 10.19, range = 20-64). Finally, 41.1% of all participants had completed some college or university, 22.6% had a high school diploma, 27.9% had completed postsecondary education, and 1% had completed some high school but did not finish.

The majority of participants were currently living in Atlantic Canada (83.2%), followed by Ontario (14.7%), Alberta (1%), Manitoba (1%) and the Prairies (1%). Most individuals identified as White (76.8%), followed by Indigenous (7.9%), Black (6.3%), other (4.2%),

East/Southeast Asian (3.2%). South Asian (2.6%), Middle Eastern (2.1%), and Latino (1%). Additionally, just over half of the sample (51.1%) had never engaged in illegal activity, been arrested, or charged, whereas 46.8% had engaged in at least one illegal activity, were arrested, or charged. Comparisons of demographic, suicidality, and criminal justice contact variables for SONA participants versus participants from the community are presented in Table 1¹.

¹ Several analyses were run to assess differences on key variables between SONA participants (i.e., university students) and community participants. No significant differences were found between groups on attempt history, $x^2(1, N = 186) = 1.187$, p = .276, or suicidal ideation, t(187) = .967, p = .335, d = .148. However, there was a significant difference between groups on having a history of illegal activity, $x^2(1, N = 186) = 13.518$, p < .001.

Table 1

	SONA (%)	SONA (<i>n</i>)	Community (%)	Community (<i>n</i>)
Female	77.6	97	64.6	42
Male	16.8	21	16.9	11
Gender-Diverse	3.2	4	1	1
CJS Involvement – Adult (Arrested,	1.6	2	23.1	15
Charged, or Booked)				
CJS Involvement – Youth (Arrested,	-	-	32.3	21
Charged, or Booked)				
Total Illegal Activity (Undetected and CJS)	37.6	47	64.6	42
Suicidal Ideation – Lifetime	66.4	83	81.5	53
Non-Suicidal Self-Injury – Lifetime	48.8	61	58.5	38
Suicide Attempt - Lifetime	16.0	20	23.1	15
Education				
Some Highschool	-	-	3.1	2
Highschool Diploma	28.0	35	12.3	8
Some University or College	58.4	73	7.7	5
College Diploma	4.0	5	23.1	15
Undergraduate Degree	7.2	9	26.2	17
Masters Degree	-	-	9.2	6
Doctorate	-	-	1.5	1

SONA versus Community Participants

Note: Frequency table outlining key variables between participants recruited through the Saint Mary's University SONA system (n = 125) and those recruited through the community (n = 65). The average age of SONA participants was 22. The average age of community participants was 34.1.

Procedure

Ethics approval for this study was obtained from the Saint Mary's University Research

Ethics Board on February 28th, 2024, prior to participant recruitment and data collection.

Participants were recruited via email, posters in the community, social media, and the SONA

system at Saint Mary's University. Recruitment emails were shared with the researcher's contacts who have connections to various organizations in the community, such as the John Howard Society in Nova Scotia and partner organizations with the Supportive Housing for People with Problematic Substance Use Program in Toronto, Ontario. The recruitment emails included a pre-approved invitation and description of the study, as well as a recruitment flyer. Posters in the community were shared at public libraries across the Halifax Regional Municipality and the Municipality of East Hants. Finally, recruitment on various online platforms, such as Facebook and Twitter, included a brief description, eligibility criteria, and a link to the online survey. There was no compensation associated with participating in this study, however, students recruited through the SONA system at Saint Mary's University received course credit (.25 bonus points) for their participation.

The survey was administered through the online survey platform Qualtrics. Upon entering the online survey, participants were presented with an informed consent page, which provided details about the study. Participants were required to read the informed consent and electronically consent to participate before proceeding to the survey. They were also informed that they could discontinue the survey at any time and that they would be redirected to a list of resources unique to their geographic location if they wished to use them. The survey screened participants for lifetime histories of suicidality, criminality, and trauma history, and it consisted of several assessments designed to measure psychological pain, hopelessness, connectedness, and capacity for suicide.

To minimize the potential for bots skewing the data or providing inflated response rates, a Completely Automated Public Turing test to tell Computers and Humans Apart (CAPTCHA) was presented at the beginning of the survey. While not always 100% efficient, the CAPTCHA can help to filter bots in survey research. As an added layer of protection, a bot-elimination technique known as the "Honey Pot Method" was used. A "Honey Pot" is a decoy question that is embedded into an online survey to filter bots (King-Nygard et al., 2023). The question "*what is true about bees*" was added to the online survey with a single response option. JavaScript code was used within this question to hide it from human participants while still keeping it visible to bots. Finally, to ensure participant engagement, three attention checks were placed throughout the survey. No participants were removed for failing two or more attention checks.

Measures

Screening for Criminal Justice Involvement. Criminal justice involvement was broadly defined to include any contact with the criminal justice system in relation to being arrested and/or detained, being held in pretrial detention, being incarcerated, and being on probation or parole. Criminal justice involvement was screened using eight questions from the Survey of Criminal Justice Experience, which captures supervision and broad experiences such as arrests and convictions (Brown & Manning, 2014). To account for potential social desirability, this section of the survey was set up in what Yan and Cantor (2019) refer to as a "forgiving context." Specifically, before asking participants about their direct experiences with the criminal justice system, a prompt was presented to participants that read "almost everyone has engaged in some type of criminal behavior throughout their life," followed by questions adapted from Brown and Manning (2014), such as "have you ever been arrested?" Participants were provided with a series of binary response options (i.e., yes or no).

While arrests and other forms of interactions with the justice system offer important insights, many illegal activities also go unreported or undetected by law enforcement. Therefore, participants were also asked about any illegal activities they had engaged in that went undetected by law enforcement as adults and prior to the age of 18. For instance, participants were asked: *"have you ever engaged in illegal activities that went undetected or unaddressed by lawenforcement, not including minor traffic violations,"* before being presented with several response options and being asked to select all that apply.

Screening for Lifetime Suicidality. Lifetime prevalence of suicidality, including ideation and corresponding behaviours, was assessed using items derived from Nock et al.'s (2007) Self-Injurious Thoughts and Behaviors Interview (SITBI). The SITBI has been shown to have strong concurrent validity and test-retest reliability in examining constructs related to suicide ideation and related behaviours, such as NSSI (Nock et al., 2007).

The most comprehensive version of the SITBI is composed of five categories consisting of roughly 30 questions each: suicidal ideation, suicide plans, suicide gestures, suicide history, and thoughts of NSSI. Additionally, each category begins with a question that screens for the lifetime prevalence of the corresponding construct (Nock et al., 2007). For the purpose of this study, participants were only asked to respond to lifetime prevalence questions such as: *"have you ever had thoughts of killing yourself?"* (suicide ideation), *"have you ever had thoughts of purposely hurting yourself without wanting to die? (for example, cutting or burning)"* (thoughts of NSSI) *"have you ever purposely hurt yourself without wanting to die?"* (NSSI), *"have you ever made an actual attempt to kill yourself in which you had a least some intent to die?"* (suicide attempt), and *"have you ever made a plan to kill yourself?"* (suicide plan). Participants responded to the above questions with the options of yes, no, or prefer not to answer.

Suicide Ideation. In addition to the lifetime prevalence of suicidality, suicide ideation was measured using Rudd's (1989) Suicide Ideation Scale (SIS). The SIS was developed for use with both clinical and non-clinical populations, and it consists of 10 items that encompass a spectrum of suicidal thoughts, ranging from subtle considerations to more intense ideation (Luxton et al.,

2011). Items are scored on a 5-point Likert scale, from "never or none of the time" to "always or a great many of times" (Rudd, 1989). Examples of statements included in the SIS are "*I feel life just isn't worth living,*" or "*I feel there is no solution to my problems other than taking my own life.*" Research on the psychometric properties of the SIS shows that the tool has good construct validity, internal consistency, and test-retest reliability (Fitriana et al., 2022; Luxton et al., 2011). In the current study, internal consistency of the SIS was assessed using Cronbach's alpha, where the scale demonstrated excellent reliability ($\alpha = .913$), indicating a high level of internal consistency across items.

Psychological Pain. Pain was evaluated using the 13-item Psychache Scale developed by Holden et al. (2001). The Psychache Scale has demonstrated strong inter-item reliability and construct validity in accurately measuring the theoretical basis of psychache proposed by Schneidman (1993), and has been previously utilized in testing the 3ST (Dhringra et al., 2019; Klonsky & May, 2015). Items consist of statements such as "my psychological pain seems worse than any physical pain" and "my psychological pain affects everything I do." Participants responded to items on a five-point scale, ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). In the current study, the final item of the Psychache scale was overlooked and not included during the data collection phase. However, despite the missing item, the Psychache Scale demonstrated strong internal consistency ($\alpha = .944$)

Hopelessness. Hopelessness was measured using the 20-item Beck Hopelessness Scale, which conceptualizes hopelessness as an individual's negative sentiment towards the future (BHS; Beck et al., 1974). The BHS has been previously used to test the 3ST (Dhingra et al., 2019; Klonsky & May, 2015; Tsai et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2019), and it has shown strong internal consistency and test-retest reliability. Participants responded to a series of true or false statements, such as "my past has prepared me well for the future," or "my future seems dark to
me." Cronbach's alpha was calculated in the present study to assess internal consistency, where the BHS demonstrated good reliability (20 items; $\alpha = .850$)

Connectedness. Connectedness was measured using the thwarted belongingness subscale of The Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire (INQ) developed by Van Orden et al. (2012). The INQ is a 15-item instrument designed to measure how connected an individual feels to other people (belongingness) and their perception of themselves as a problem to others (perceived burdensomeness; Joiner et al., 2002). The final 9 items of the INQ measure connectedness, where participants were asked to respond to statements on a seven-point scale, ranging from 1 (*not at all true for me*) to 7 (*very true for me*). Several studies examining the INQ have demonstrated good internal consistency, as well as good construct and convergent validity (Teo et al., 2018; Rodriguez et al., 2022; Van Orden et al., 2011). The INQ subscale used in the current study demonstrated good internal consistency ($\alpha = .900$).

Suicide Capacity. Participant capacity for suicide was assessed using Klonsky and May's Suicide Capacity Scale (SCS), which is a 6-item instrument designed to measure the three subcategories of suicide capacity outlined in the 3ST: acquired capacity, dispositional capacity, and practical capacity. Participants were asked to rate items on a six-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 (*strongly disagree*) to 6 (*strongly agree*). Items from the SCS include statements such as: "I have always been able to handle pain more easily than other people" (dispositional capability), "I can handle more physical pain than I used to" (acquired capability), and "If I ever wanted to, I'd know how to kill myself" (practical capability). The SCS has shown strong convergent validity (Klonksy & May, 2015) and acceptable internal consistency (Dhingra et al., 2019; Tsai et al., 2021). Similarly, the SCS demonstrated acceptable internal consistency within the current study (6 items; $\alpha = .742$).

Trauma History. The Life Events Checklist for *DSM-5* (LEC-5) was used to assess participant experiences of potentially traumatic events. The LEC-5 is a self-report measure which includes 17 items that assess various types of potentially traumatic events that one may experience throughout life (Weathers et al., 2013). Participants respond to each item with a variety of options, such as "happened to me," "witnessed it," "learned about it," "part of my job," "not sure," or "doesn't apply." The LEC-5 has demonstrated strong convergent and discriminant validity, as well as test-retest consistency (Bae et al., 2008). Additionally, it has been shown to be a valid measure of trauma history across cultures (Morawej et al., 2024; Stevenson et al., 2023). All measures used within this study can be found in Appendix C.

Results

The lifetime prevalence of suicidal ideation and attempts was assessed using the SITBI (Nock et al., 2007). Results are presented in Table 2, which outline that a large proportion of this sample reported having experienced various forms of suicidality. Specifically, 71.6% of individuals indicated having had thoughts about killing themselves at some point in their life, while 65.8% reported having thoughts about harming themselves without the intent to die. Additionally, 52.1% reported having engaged in self-harm without wanting to die, while 27.4% of participants shared that they had previously made a plan to end their life, and 18.4% reported having attempted suicide. An overview of the means, standard deviations, and correlations of all study variables is presented in Table 3.

Of the 46.8% of participants who indicated having engaged in at least one illegal activity (arrested, charged, or undetected; n = 89), 23.6% had attempted suicide at one point in their life, 82% had experienced thoughts of killing themselves, and 37.1% had actually made a plan to take

their own life. Additionally, this subsample of participants had particularly high frequencies of experiencing potentially traumatic events that were violent in nature. For instance, 52.8% indicated that they had experienced some form of physical assault (being attacked, beaten up, etc.), 46.1% had experienced a sexual assault (rape, attempted rape, etc.), and 14.6% had been assaulted with a weapon (being shot, stabbed, etc.). Figure 2 illustrates the relevant proportions of potentially traumatic events from the LEC-5 for individuals with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement compared to individuals without such history.

Figure 2





Note: Proportions of potentially traumatic events for individuals with no history of illegal activity (n = 97) and those with a history of illegal activity (n = 89)

Table 2

Lifetime Prevalence of Suicidality (SITBI; Nock et al., 2007)

	Total (%)	Total (<i>n</i>)	History of Criminal Behavior/CJS (%)	History of Criminal Behavior/CJS (<i>n</i>)	No History (%)	No History (<i>n</i>)
Have you ever had thoughts of killing yourself?	71.6	136	82.0	73	63.9	62
Have you ever had thoughts of purposely hurting yourself without wanting to die?	65.8	125	78.7	70	54.6	53
Have you ever purposely hurt yourself without wanting to die?	52.1	99	69.7	62	36.1	35
Have you ever made an actual attempt to kill yourself in which you had an intent to die?	18.4	35	23.6	21	14.4	14
Have you ever made a plan to kill yourself?	27.4	52	37.1	33	19.6	19

Note: Frequencies for lifetime prevalence of suicidality are presented for the entire sample, and then broken down into those with a history of criminal behavior and those without a history of criminal behavior.

Table 3

Means and correlations of study variables.

			Correlations							
Variable	M	SD	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
(1) Age	25.8	8.710	-							
(2) Suicidal Ideation	19.17	8.182	062	-						
(3) Suicide Attempt	.19	.392	016	.445**	-					
(4) Pain	32.74	11.809	.094	.694**	.246**	-				
(5) Hopelessness	7.59	4.374	.265**	.594**	.094	.681**	-			
(6) Connectedness	28.52	11.789	.075	.432**	.076	.594**	.579**	-		
(Low)										
(7) Capacity	18.93	5.177	.110	.434**	.220**	.415**	.406**	.183*	-	
(8) Illegal Activity	1.96	3.044	.374**	.162*	.185*	.168*	.177*	.033	.183*	-

Note: ** indicates significance at the .01 level, * indicates significance at the .05 level (two-tailed). The suicide attempt variable is dichotomous.

Table 4 provides an overview of the breakdown for individuals who indicated that they were arrested, charged, or booked by police as adults or youth, and those who disclosed that they committed offenses that went undetected by law enforcement. Of the individuals who indicated being involved with the CJS as an adult (n = 17), 6.8% had been convicted or pled guilty to charges, and 5.8% had been under some form of criminal justice supervision, such as probation, jail, or prison. In comparison, for individuals who indicated a history of CJS contact as a youth (n = 21), .5% had spent time in a juvenile detention centre, and 8.4% had been subject to extrajudicial sanctions, such as community service, restitution or compensation, or participation in counselling. All participants with criminal justice involvement were community participants (i.e., not SONA participants). For adults who had contact with the criminal justice system, violent offending and drug-related offending, were the most common types of offence. Nonviolent offending, such as theft, property damage, or fraud, was the most frequently identified type of offence for youth in contact with the criminal justice system (n = 21). In terms of undetected illegal activities, drug-related and non-violent activities were the most common for both adults and youth. Both SONA participants and community participants indicated having engaged in undetected illegal activity.

Table 4

Frequencies of offending types by participant type.

	% (Total)	n (Total)	% (SONA)	n (SONA)	% (Community)	n (Community)
Adult – CJS						
Non-violent offending	2.1	4	-	-	6.2	4
Violent offending	3.7	7	-	-	10.8	7
Drug-related offending	3.7	7	-	-	10.8	7
Sex-related offending	-	-	-	-	1.6	2
Youth - CJS						
Non-violent offending	9.5	18	-	-	27.7	18
Violent offending	3.2	6	-	-	9.2	6
Drug-related offending	1.6	3	-	-	4.6	3
Sex-related offending	-	-	-	-	-	-
Adult – Undetected						
Non-violent	21.1	40	16.0	20	30.8	20
Violent	6.8	13	1.6	2	16.9	11
Drug-related	27.9	53	16.6	21	49.2	32
Sex-related	1.1	2	.8	1	1.5	1
Other	9.5	18	4.8	6	18.5	12
Youth – Undetected						
Non-violent	30.0	57	20.8	26	27.7	31
Violent	11.6	22	2.4	3	29.2	19
Drug-related	27.4	52	16.0	20	49.2	32
Sex-related	1.1	2	1.6	2	-	-
Other	11.6	22	8.0	10	18.5	12

Note: Participants could indicate one or more types of offending. Total n = 190, SONA n = 125, Community n = 65

Analyses for Step One of the 3ST

The present study hypothesized that pain and hopelessness would interact to predict suicidal ideation, and that this interaction would predict suicidal ideation more strongly for individuals with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement. First, a multiple regression was conducted to assess the direct effects of pain and hopelessness on suicidal ideation. The overall model was significant, $R^2 = .509$, F (2, 183) = 94.968, p < .001 indicating that approximately 50.9% of the variance in suicidal ideation was explained by pain (B = .375, SE = .049, t = 7.637, p = .001) and hopelessness (B = .429, SE = .133, t = 3.236, p = .001). Additionally, to directly test Step One of the 3ST, a moderation analysis was conducted using the PROCESS macro tool developed by Hayes (2012) in SPSS. The moderation analysis assessed whether hopelessness moderated the relationship between pain and suicidal ideation for the sample as a whole. As expected, the overall model was significant, $R^2 = .53$, F(3, 182) = 67.10, p <. 001, and it explained 52.5% of the variance in suicidal ideation. Both pain (B = .4027, SE = .0497, t = 8.1019, p = .001, and hopelessness (B = .3095, SE = .1395, t = 2.2292, p = .027) significantly predicted suicidal ideation. Additionally, the interaction between pain and hopelessness was also statistically significant (B = .0207, SE = .0084, t = 2.4671, p = .004), which suggests that hopelessness moderated the relationship between pain and suicidal ideation. As illustrated in Figure 3, conditional effects revealed that pain significantly predicted suicidal ideation at low levels of hopelessness (B = .3072, SE = .0556, t = 5.5290, p < .001), median levels of hopelessness (B = .3900, SE = .0488, t = 7.9936, p < .001), and high levels of hopelessness (B = .5140, SE = .0744, t = 6.9101, p < .001). Overall, conditional effects showed that as levels of hopelessness increased, so did the influence of pain on suicidal ideation, where

the effect of pain on suicidal ideation was strongest at high levels of hopelessness. Figure 3 illustrates the interaction between pain and hopelessness on suicidal ideation.

Figure 3





Note: Line graph illustrating the interaction between pain and hopelessness on suicidal ideation. The figure shows that higher pain scores are associated with increased suicidal ideation across all levels of hopelessness, and that increases in suicidal ideation are more pronounced at higher levels of hopelessness.

To determine whether this interaction was significant across those with and without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement, a moderated moderation analysis was conducted to assess a three-way interaction between pain, hopelessness, and history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement on suicidal ideation. The analysis revealed that the three-way interaction between pain, hopelessness, and history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement was significant, $R^2 = .0230$, F(2, 179) = 4.442, p = .013, suggesting that the moderating effect of hopelessness varied between groups. More specifically, and contrary to our hypothesis, conditional effects revealed that pain had a stronger effect on suicidal ideation at low levels of hopelessness for individuals without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (B = .3316, SE = .0631, t = 5.254, p = .001) compared to those with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (B = .2409, SE = .0711, t = 3.390, p < .001). As outlined in Figure 4, the effect of pain on suicidal ideation at median levels of hopelessness was significant for both groups, but stronger for those without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (B = .4201, SE = .0556, t = 7.549, p < .001) compared to those with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (B = .3294, SE = .0674, t = 4.887, p < .001). Finally, at high levels of hopelessness, pain had the strongest effect on suicidal ideation for both groups, although this effect was slightly stronger for those without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (B = .4224, SE = .0674, t = 4.887, p < .001). Finally, at high levels of hopelessness, pain had the strongest effect on suicidal ideation for both groups, although this effect was slightly stronger for those without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (B = .4622, SE = .0900, t = 5.1370, p < .001).

Figure 4

Three-way interaction of pain, hopelessness, and criminal behavior or CJS involvement on suicidal ideation.



Note: Line graphs illustrating the three-way interaction between pain, hopelessness and criminal history on suicidal ideation. Each graph shows three lines corresponding to the levels of hopelessness: low (-4.63), moderate (-0.63), and high (5.37). The top graph represents individuals without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement, where the slope steepens slightly and indicates that those without a history of criminality experience a stronger effect of pain and hopelessness on suicidal ideation. The bottom graph represents those with a history of criminality, where the slopes are less steep compared to the top graph.

Lastly, an independent samples *t*-test was conducted to assess whether there was a meaningful difference between groups on mean suicidal ideation scores. Group statistics revealed that individuals with a history of criminal behavior (M = 20.36, SD = 7.343) scored marginally higher on the measure of suicidal ideation compared to those without a history of

criminal behavior (M = 18.13, SD = 8.859; see Figure 5). However, the independent samples *t*-test was not significant, t(183) = -1.86, p = .065; d = -.274.

Figure 5

Mean Suicidal Ideation.



Note: Bar graph illustrating the mean suicidal ideation scores between individuals with and without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement.

Analyses for Step Two of the 3ST

The second hypothesis for this study proposed that connectedness would protect against increasing suicidal ideation among at-risk individuals who were high on both pain and hopelessness. First, Pearsons's correlations were conducted to explore the association between connectedness and suicidal ideation among individuals high on both pain and hopelessness with a history of criminal behavior. Connectedness was measured using total scores from the belongingness subscale of the INQ, and suicidal ideation was measured using total scores from the SIS. Both pain and hopelessness were dichotomized and split at the median to create high versus low groups, where the high group was comprised of at-risk participants. Results from the analyses did not provide support for Step Two of the 3ST within our sample. First, the relationship between connectedness and suicidal ideation for those high on both pain and hopelessness with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (n = 37) was positive but not statistically significant, r = .296, p = .075 (Figure 6).

Figure 6

Relationship between connectedness and suicidal ideation for all at-risk participants with a history of criminal behavior or involvement with the CJS.



Note: Scatterplot illustrating the relationship between connectedness and suicidal ideation among individuals high on both pain and hopelessness with a history of criminal involvement. The trendline suggests a positive correlation, although findings are not significant, and the effect size accounts for only 8.8% of the variance.

Similarly, for those high on both pain and hopelessness without a history of criminal behavior (n = 34), there was no significant association between connectedness and suicidal ideation, r = .100, p = .575. Moreover, when considering the entire sample of at-risk participants (i.e., those high on both pain and hopelessness; n = 71), regardless of a history of criminal behavior, the analysis revealed similar, non-significant results, r = .178, p = .138 (Figure 7).

Figure 7





Note: Scatterplot illustrating the relationship between connectedness and suicidal ideation among individuals high on both pain and hopelessness for the entire sample, regardless of history of criminal involvement. The trendline suggests a positive correlation, although findings are not significant and the effect size accounts for only 3.2% of the variance.

Second, as a direct test of Step Two, we followed guidance from previous 3ST studies and standardized pain and connectedness scores for an overall difference score, where this score illustrated the extent to which pain exceeded connectedness (Klonsky et al., 2021). Specifically, positive scores from this measure indicated that pain was greater than connectedness, and negative scores meant that connectedness was greater than pain. The correlation between the pain-connectedness difference score and suicidal ideation among individuals high on both pain and hopelessness, regardless of criminal history, was positive but not statistically significant (r = .069, p = .568; Figure 8).

Figure 8

Relationship between pain-connectedness difference scores and suicidal ideation for all individuals high on both pain and hopelessness.



Note: Scatterplot illustrating the relationship between the pain-connectedness difference score and suicidal ideation among individuals high on both pain and hopelessness for the entire sample, regardless of history of criminal involvement. The trendline suggests a positive correlation, although findings are not significant, and the effect size accounts for only .3% of the variance.

For those high on pain and hopelessness with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement, the correlation between the pain--connectedness difference score and suicidal ideation was also not significant (r = -.215, p = .202; Figure 9). Similarly, the correlation between suicidal ideation and the pain-connectedness difference score for those without a criminal history was also non-significant (r = .235, p = .181; Figure 10).

Figure 9





Pain-Connectedness Difference Score - History of Criminal Behavior/CJS Involvement

Note: Scatterplot illustrating the relationship between the pain-connectedness difference score and suicidal ideation among individuals high on both pain and hopelessness with a history of criminal involvement. The trendline suggests a negative correlation, although findings are not significant, and the effect size accounts for only 4.6% of the variance.

Figure 10

Relationship between pain-connectedness difference scores and suicide ideation for individuals high on both pain and hopelessness without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement.



Pain-Connectedness Difference Score - No Criminal Involvement

Note: Scatterplot illustrating the relationship between the pain-connectedness difference score and suicidal ideation among individuals high on both pain and hopelessness with no history of criminal involvement. The trendline suggests a positive correlation, although findings are not significant, and the effect size accounts for only 5.5% of the variance.

Analysis for Step Three of the 3ST

The final hypothesis for this study proposed that levels suicide capacity would be lower for individuals with ideation only and higher for individuals with a history of attempt. Additionally, we proposed that individuals with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement would score higher on all levels of suicide capacity compared to those without such history. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to test this hypothesis, where we examined whether suicide capacity differed across three groups: a) those with a history of suicide attempts and a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (M = 21.05, SD = 3.612), b) those with a history of suicide attempts and no history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (M = 21.50, SD = 3.568), and c) those with a history of suicidal ideation but no attempts (M =19.37, SD = 5.288). Results from this analysis revealed that suicide capacity did not significantly differ between groups, F(2, 130) = 1.885, p = .156 $n^2 = .028$. Figure 11 provides a visual overview of mean capacity scores across groups.

Figure 11



Mean suicide capacity.

Note: Bar graph representing mean scores of suicide capacity for three groups based on suicidality and criminality history.

Lastly, in an attempt to replicate findings from previous 3ST studies, we examined whether suicide capacity differed between individuals with a history of suicide attempts and individuals with a history of ideation but no attempts, regardless of CJS or criminal behavior history. To do so, an independent samples *t*-test was conducted, where results did not reveal a statistically significant difference in suicide capacity between individuals with a history of attempt (M = 21.23, SD = 3.549) and those with a history of ideation but no attempt (M = 19.37, SD = 5.288); t(131) = 1.930, p = .056, d = 4.897. The mean difference in scores between groups was 1.861 (95% CI [-.046, .3.769]), indicating that those with a history of attempting suicide had higher suicide capacity scores (Figure 12). Despite the lack of statistical significance, the large effect size suggests that there may be a meaningful difference in suicide capacity between groups.

Figure 12



Mean suicide capacity – entire sample.



Discussion

The ability to detect and prevent suicidality requires a more comprehensive understanding of how suicidal ideation escalates to suicide attempts (Dhringra et al., 2019; Favril et al., 2020; Klonksy et al., 2021). The 3ST is a theory that attempts to account for this process, and it proposes that the development of suicidal ideation results from the combined effect of pain and hopelessness, where connectedness can protect against escalating ideation among individuals with high levels of pain and hopelessness, and where the transition between ideation and attempt is contingent on the presence of suicide capability (i.e., capacity; Klonksly et al., 2021). Despite its potential relevance, this theory has not yet been tested among individuals with a criminal history. Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to extend the validity of the 3ST by testing this theory among individuals with a history of criminal behavior or involvement with the CJS compared to those without. Through this replication and extension of the 3ST, this study aimed to advance suicide prevention and intervention efforts within a population of individuals known to be at a particularly high risk of suicidality. Analyses from a sample of 190 Canadian residents over the age of 18 provided partial support for this theory.

For Step One of the 3ST, results supported the hypothesis that pain and hopelessness would interact to predict suicidal ideation, with this interaction explaining 50.9% of the variance in suicidal ideation in the overall sample. As expected, hopelessness moderated the relationship between pain and suicidal ideation, where conditional effects showed that pain predicted suicidal at all levels of hopelessness, and that the strength of this effect increased at higher levels of hopelessness. Thus, results from this analysis supports the validity of Step One of the 3ST in general and are in line with previous replication studies examining the 3ST (Dhringra et al., 2019; Klonksy & May, 2015; Pachkowski et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2018). However, contrary to the second hypothesis for Step One, the combined effect of pain and hopelessness was reduced among the subgroup of participants who had a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement (see Figure 4). That is, the influence of pain and hopelessness on suicidal ideation for this subsample was less influential and suggested that pain had stronger effects at all levels of hopelessness for individuals without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement. This

finding was unexpected given the research that has demonstrated both pain and hopelessness as factors related to suicidality in justice-involved populations (Chapman et al., 2011; Favril et al., 2020; Gooding et al., 2016; Pereira et al., 2010).

However, there are several potential explanations for the direction of this finding. First, individuals in this subsample may have developed different coping mechanisms or resilience factors through their life experiences, which may impact their subjective experiences of pain and hopelessness. Alternatively, individuals who have engaged in criminal behavior or had contact with the CJS may be desensitized to experiences of pain and hopelessness given their life trajectories, where they may come to expect these factors and thus normalize them as a part of life, which may reduce the impact of these factors on suicidal ideation. More specifically, repeated exposure to adverse life events may impact an individual's perception of pain and hopelessness. It is possible that the high prevalence of potentially traumatic events among this subsample may have contributed to resilience or a reduced emotional response to stressors that diminished the severity of pain and hopelessness in the context of suicidal ideation. While these are potential explanations, it is important to note that there is minimal longitudinal research examining resiliency and coping among individuals who have engaged in criminal behavior or have had contact with the CJS. Therefore, these assertions are speculative and not yet substantiated by existing research. Nevertheless, conclusions based on these findings are exploratory, as we did not gather information on when or how frequently individuals engaged in criminal behavior and it is possible that a large portion of this subsample may have a distant history of criminal involvement. Finally, it is important to note that a large proportion of this sample included university students. Although not the focus of this study, there are also high

prevalence rates of suicidal ideation in university samples (Akram et al., 2020; Mortier et al., 2018), which may explain the high frequencies of suicidality variables in the present study.

In addition, the data from this study did not support Step Two of the 3ST, which suggests that connectedness protects against increasing suicidal ideation among those high on both pain and hopelessness. Results were non-significant for the overall sample of high-risk individuals, as well as those with and without a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement. Next, as a direct test of Step Two, difference scores were calculated between pain and connectedness, where the correlations between these scores and suicidal ideation were also non-significant across all groups. However, as illustrated in Figure 7, there was a slight positive trend, indicating that as the pain-connectedness difference score increased (i.e., where pain exceeded connectedness), suicidal ideation also increased. Similarly, in Figure 8, the scatterplot illustrated a negative trend for individuals with a history of criminality, which suggests a buffering effect of connectedness: as connectedness exceeds pain, suicidal ideation decreases. However, despite these observed trends, overall results were non-significant. It is possible that the non-significant findings are due to sample size and measurement, which is elaborated on below.

While the absence of statistical significance challenges the second step of the 3ST, it also raises important considerations about the sample these data were derived from. Although the small sample size for this study is a significant limitation, another possible explanation for these results may be the nature of the sample itself. On one hand, the subsample of individuals with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement may experience unique barriers to connectedness, thus limiting the protective effects of connectedness. On the other, this subsample might experience connectedness differently than how it was measured in this study. That is, the INQ subscale may not adequately capture the nature of connectedness among those with a

criminal history. With that said, the role of connectedness as a protective factor was also not meaningful for the high-risk sample as a whole, which may suggest that measures beyond the INQ should be considered when looking at the protective role of connectedness on suicidal ideation. That is, connectedness as measured by the INQ may be insufficient given nuanced nature of this construct. This echoes Chu et al.'s (2017) statement about the challenges of the INQ in measuring thwarted belongingness, as the scale only measures single components of belongingness. With that said, Chu et al. (2017) also found weak to moderate relationships between a lack of connectedness (i.e., thwarted belongingness) and more severe suicidal ideation. Therefore, it is important to consider that the protective effects of connectedness may not be captured by the INQ, and that more comprehensive measures may be needed to account for connectedness in this population.

In terms of capability for suicide, or suicide capacity, empirical support for Step Three of the 3ST was not demonstrated for the overall sample. Although individuals in this sample with a history of suicide attempts had higher suicide capacity scores compared to those with a history of suicidal ideation only, this difference was not statistically significant at the conventional level (p = .056). However, the large effect size demonstrated by this analysis suggests that there may be a potentially meaningful difference. Given that the p-value was just above the threshold, it is possible that the sample was not large enough to achieve statistical significance. Additionally, results did not support the hypothesis that suicide capacity scores would be higher among those with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement compared to those without. This finding may be attributed to a variety of factors, such as measurement limitations and/or the nature of criminal behavior within the sample. First, suicide attempts were measured dichotomously in the current study. In the Chu et al. (2017) review, the authors noted that many studies that used

dichotomous measures of suicide attempts tended to yield non-significant results. The authors also suggest that future studies measure attempt history continuously while also including response options that may better capture the nuanced and rapidly changing nature of suicide risk (Chu et al., 2017). Second, the nature of criminal behavior or CJS involvement in this study was heterogenous, where there was also a low number of individuals who engaged in violent behavior. Although there were a variety of offending types in this sample, the most common types of offending were non-violent or drug related. This is important because previous research has identified violent offending as a factor that differentiates justice-involved individuals who attempt suicide from those who experience ideation only (Favril et al., 2020). It is possible that the results of this study may have differed if the sample included a larger proportion of individuals who have engaged in violent behavior. Relatedly, it is likely that the sample size was insufficient to detect significant differences, particularly given the small effect of criminal behavior on suicide capacity.

Strengths & Limitations

There are several strengths and limitations of the current study that are worth highlighting. First, this study was guided by a strong theoretical model, which is important for the progression of suicide research given that the 3ST provides a well-validated framework for understanding the progression from suicidal ideation to attempts. In this way, the hypotheses and analyses for this study were firmly grounded in theory. Second, this study addressed an important gap in the literature by examining suicidality and the 3ST among individuals with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement, which has not yet been explored. Third, as a replication and extension of the 3ST, this study contributes to addressing the replicability crisis

in psychological research by evaluating the theory's validity in an understudied population more broadly.

With that said, there are a handful of important factors that should be considered when interpreting the findings of the current study, particularly as they relate to the methodology and sampling. For instance, the cross-sectional design of this study prevents us from making causal inferences and the current study was limited by the relatively small sample size, which potentially impacted our ability to detect significant differences in the subgroup analyses. Relatedly, the initial intention of this study was to examine the 3ST within justice-involved populations. However, due to the barriers accessing justice-involved individuals for research, this study relied on self-reported histories of criminal behavior and CJS involvement. Given the expectation that there would be a low base rate of CJS involvement in the current sample, the inclusion of undetected criminal behavior was used to capture a broad range of activities that may not have come to the attention of law enforcement. This approach is particularly limited in that it may be vulnerable to social desirability bias, where participants may have underreported or failed to disclose criminal behavior, which may have resulted in an underestimation of criminal behavior in the sample. This approach also fails to capture the potential unique differences between individuals with CJS involvement and those who have engaged in undetected crimes, both of which were combined into a single variable for analysis. It is possible that those involved with the CJS have different psychological and environmental factors that influence suicidality compared to those with undetected criminal behavior. Additionally, participants in this study were not asked about information on the timing and frequency of criminal behavior. This is an important gap as it limits our ability to fully understand the

61

complexities of criminality as it relates to suicidality, and it prevents us from assessing the severity of behavior.

Finally, a major limitation of this study is that the sample primarily consisted of university students (65.8%), who are generally prosocial and not representative of the population of interest. The reliance on a student sample significantly limits the generalizability of these findings to other populations, as students may not accurately represent the broader population in terms of socioeconomic status, educational background, and life experiences. With that said, it remains important to acknowledge the particularly high rates of suicidality that were observed among the student sample in this study. Although it was not the focus of the current study, previous research has outlined high prevalence rates of suicidal ideation and behavior in other university samples (Akram et al., 2020; Mortier et al., 2018), which may explain the high frequencies of suicidality observed here. The alarming rates of suicidality in the sample highlight the need for university administrators to consider targeted prevention and intervention efforts in universities. Implications and future directions for research are explained next.

Implications & Future Directions

The findings from the present study have several important implications for research and practice. First, this study was the first to examine the 3ST among individuals with a history of criminal behavior or CJS involvement. As an exploratory examination of the 3ST, this study provides a foundation for further validation of the 3ST in forensic populations, which has been an underexplored area in both suicidology and forensic psychology. The present study lays the groundwork for future research to examine the 3ST with larger sample sizes and direct measures of criminal involvement, particularly among those who are incarcerated or serving their sentences in the community. Relatedly, this study highlights the importance of examining the

3ST in samples that are explicitly justice-involved, as opposed to testing the theory between those who have a history of CJS involvement compared to those without. Additionally, more longitudinal studies with greater statistical power are needed to examine the pathways between pain, hopelessness, connectedness, and suicide capacity among justice-involved individuals. With additional research, the 3ST may be shown to be particularly useful in forensic contexts, both for victims and offenders, where suicidality presents complex and resource-intensive challenges.

With that said, although the results of this study were unable to capture the realities of justice-involved individuals, the findings do contribute to suicide research more broadly, which can also have implications for suicide prevention. Specifically, the present study contributes to the growing body of evidence suggesting that suicide prevention efforts should be guided by ideation-to-action frameworks, where intervention and prevention efforts should be explicit about the factors that aim to reduce suicidal ideation versus prevent ideation from progressing to an attempt (Klonksy et al., 2018; Klonksy et al., 2021; Van Orden et al., 2010). In theory, it is possible for components of the 3ST to be applied at both the primary and secondary levels of suicide prevention by directing efforts towards decreasing pain, increasing hope and connectedness, and reducing capacity. However, the results from this study only provided support for the roles of pain, hopelessness, and suicide capacity on suicide risk more broadly, but not connectedness as a protective factor. The lack of support for the role of connectedness must be interpreted with caution given the sampling and measurement limitations of this study, and by acknowledging the large body of research that supports connectedness as a protective factor against suicide (Cramer et al., 2017; Gill et al., 2023; Klonksy et al., 2021; Pachkowski et al., 2021; Zareian & Klonksy, 2020; Zhong et al., 2021). Nevertheless, the results of this study

support the use of primary prevention measures that could encompass the reduction of pain, hopelessness and capacity through interventions, programs, and policies at the population level.

Similarly, secondary prevention efforts (i.e., those that seek to reduce the escalation of suicidal ideation and behaviors) may benefit from wrapping prevention around the conditions that contribute to suicidality as proposed by the 3ST (Klonksy et al., 2018). Through this lens, secondary prevention may involve targeted strategies such as safety planning and interventions that specifically address the factors outlined in the 3ST. For instance, interventions might focus on increasing an individual's sense of hope while simultaneously attempting to decrease their pain and capacity. These approaches may be particularly important during acute periods of crisis given the transient nature of suicide risk (Zortea et al., 2020). That is, by targeting these factors, we may be able to assist with keeping people safe through the highest risk moments of crisis.

In closing, there is a critical distinction to be made between those with suicidal ideation and those who attempt suicide, both theoretically and clinically. Traditional risk factors, such as depression or mood disorders, tell us little about the difference between ideators and attempters (Kessler et al., 1999), which is important for the accurate assessment and management of suicide risk. In a national comorbidity survey in the United States, Kessler et al. (1999) concluded that "all significant risk factors... were more strongly related to ideation than to progression from ideation to a plan or an attempt" [p. 617]. More recently, Kessler et al. (2020) have argued that suicide risk tools continue to lack clinical value. Despite decades of research on the detection and prevention of suicides, the ability to accurately predict who will go on to attempt or die by suicide has not improved and remains only marginally better than chance (Kessler et al., 2020; Shortreed et al., 2023). Therefore, there is a need to move beyond a check-list approach for risk factors and towards a more comprehensive understanding of how these risk factors operate within the framework of ideation-to-action theories, such as the 3ST.

Conclusion

Suicidality remains a devastating public health concern, affecting individuals, families, and communities across all demographics. Consequently, there remains an urgent need to better understand the factors the contribute to the loss of life due to suicide. Given the dearth of research on ideation-to-action theories of suicide as they relate to individuals with a history of criminality, this study aimed to replicate and extend the 3ST to individuals with a history of criminal behavior or involvement with CJS. Although partial support for the 3ST was found, the theory's central tenets did not replicate as expected for this subsample of individuals. However, the pervasiveness of suicidality among justice-involved populations continues to warrant further investigation into the mechanisms by which suicidal ideation progresses to suicidal action. Additional research is needed to generalize the 3ST in hopes of contributing to the continued improvement of risk assessment and treatment, with the ultimate goal of saving lives and reducing the suffering associated with suicidality. Despite the inherent challenges in researching suicidality, many scholars and practitioners have dedicated their lives to pursuing better detection and prevention strategies through the development of theory and evidence-based interventions, and it is important that we as a society persist in contributing to a deeper understanding of this ongoing public health crisis.

"I share with survivors the pain of losing a loved one to suicide. But I share with clinicians the challenges of treating suicidal behavior, and I share with scientists the daunting task of unraveling suicide's mysteries" (Joiner, 2005, p. 15).

References

- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50*(2), 179-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T</u>
- Akram, U., Ypsilanti, A., Gardani, M., Irvine, K., Allen, S., Akram, A., Drabble, J., Bickle, E., Kaye, L., Lipinski, D., Matuszyk, E., Sarlak, H., Steedman, E., & Lazuras, L. (2020).
 Prevalence and psychiatric correlates of suicidal ideation in UK university students. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 272*, 191-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.03.185</u>
- Beck, A. T., Weissman, A., Lester, D., & Trexler, L. (1974). The measure of pessimism: The hopelessness scale. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 42(6), 861-856.

https://doi.org//10.1037/h0037562

- Berg, M. T. & Heaubner, B. N. (2010). Re-entry and the ties that bind: An examination of social ties, employment, and recidivism. *Justice Quarterly*, 28(2), 382-410. https://doi.org/07418825.2010.498383
- Bonta, J., & Andrews, D. A. (2023). *The Psychology of Criminal Conduct (7th ed.)*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003292128
- Bousquet, T. (2024, May 13). Another death in the Burnside jail: A prisoner speaks about understaffing and the mental health effects of lockdowns. *The Halifax Examiner*. <u>https://www.halifaxexaminer.ca/morning-file/another-death-in-the-burnside-jail-a-</u> <u>prisoner-speaks-about-understaffing-and-the-mental-health-effects-of-lockdowns/</u>
- Bowden, O. (2023, August 23). His brother died in an Ontario jail. Advocates say calls for reform to prevent such deaths are being ignored. *CBC News*. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/inmate-suicide-toronto-jail-1.6943729

- Brown, G., Hoffman, R., Neufeld, E., & Mrozewski, T. (2017). Suicide risk assessment instruments: A review of the current literature. (Research Report R-392). Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service of Canada.
- Butler, A., Young, J. T., Kinner, S. A., & Borschmann, R. (2018). Self-harm and suicidal behaviour among incarcerated adults in the Australian capital territory. *Health & Justice*, 6, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-018-0071-8</u>
- Carr, E. R., & Ponce, A. N. (2022). Supporting mental health recovery, citizenship, and social justice. *Community Mental Health*, 58, 11-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.007/s10597-021-00900-y</u>
- Carter, A., Butler, A., Willoughby, M., Janca, E., Kinner, S., Southalan, L., Fazel., S., & Borshmann, R. (2022). Interventions to reduce suicidal thoughts and behaviours among people in contact with the criminal justice system: A global systematic review. *Clinical Medicine*, 44, 101-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101266</u>
- Cesaroni, C., Grol, C., & Fredricks, K. (2018). Overrepresentation of Indigenous youth in Canada's criminal justice system: Perspectives of Indigenous young people. *Journal of Criminology*, 52(1), 111-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0004865818778746</u>
- Chapman, A. L., Specht, M. W. Cellucci, T. (2011). Factors associated with suicide attempts in female inmates: The hegemony of hopelessness. *Suicide and Life Threatening Behavior*, 35(5), 558-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/suli.2005.35.5.558</u>
- Chu, C., Buchman-Schmitt, J. M., Stanley, I. H., Hom, M. A., Tucker, R. P., Hagan, C. R.,
 Rogers, M. L., Podlogar, M. C., Chiurliza, B., Ringer, F. B., Michaels, M. S., Patros, C.
 H. G., & Joiner, T. E. (2017). The interpersonal theory of suicide: A systematic review

and meta-analysis of a decade of cross-national research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(12), 1313–1345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000123</u>

- Cramer, R., J., Wechsler, H., J., Miller, S., L., & Yenne, E. (2017). Suicide prevention in correctional settings: Current standards and recommendations for research prevention and training. *Journal of Correctional Health Care, 23*(3), 313-328. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078345817716162
- Daigle, M. S., Labelle, R., & Cote, G/ (2006). Further evidence of the validity of the suicide risk assessment scale for prisoners. International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 29(5), 343-354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2006.01.004</u>
- Dhringra, K., Klonsky, D., & Tapola, V. (2019). An empirical test of the three-step theory of suicide in U.K. university students. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 49(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12437</u> =
- Durkheim, E. (1951). Suicide: A Study in Sociology (second edition). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203994320
- Edgemon, T. G. & Clay-Warner, J. (2019). Inmate mental health and the pains of imprisonment. *Society and Mental Health*, 9(1), 33-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.117/2156869318785424</u>
- Fitriana, E. Purba, F. D., Salsabila, P. S., Danasasmita, F. S., Afriandi, I., Tarigan, R., Ichsan, A., & Pandia, V. (2022). Psychometric properties of the suicidal ideation scale in the Indonesian language. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, 13, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/21501319221143716</u>

Gill, P. R., Arena, M., Rainbow, C., Hosking, W., Shearson, K. M., Ivey, G., & Sharples, J. (2023). Social connectedness and suicidal ideation: The roles of perceived burdensomeness and thwarted belongingness in the distress to suicidal ideation pathway. *BMC Psychology*, *11*, 312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-023-01338-5</u>

Gooding, P. A., Tarrier, N., Dunn, G., Awenat, Y., Shaw, J., Ulph, F., & Pratt, D. (2017).
Psychological characteristics and predictors of suicide probability in high-risk prisoners. *Criminal Justice and Behavior, 44*(3), 321-335.

https://doi.org/10.177/0093854816650478

- Gullotta, M., Greenberg., D., Albalawi, O., Adily, A., Karminia, A., Knight, L., Ellis., A., & Butler, T. G. (2021). Self-harm and suicidality among three subgroups of male sex offenders: Results from an Australian prisoner cohort. *Health & Justice, 9*, 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-021-00146-6
- Gvion, Y., Levi-Belz, Y., Hadlaczky, G., & Apter, A. (2015). On the role of impulsivity and decision-making in suicidal behavior. *World Journal of Psychiatry*, 5(3), 255-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.5498/wjp.v5.i3.255</u>
- Hensel, J. M., Casiano, H., Chartier, M. J., Ekuma, O., MacWilliam, L., Mota, N., ... Bolton, J.
 M. (2020). Prevalence of mental disorders among all justice-involved: A population-level study in Canada. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 68, 101-523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlo.2019.101523
- Holden, R. R., Mehta, K., Cunningham, E. J., & McLeod, L. D. (2001). Development and preliminary validation of a scale of psychache. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 33(4), 224-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0087144</u>

- Hughes, N., Ungar, M., Fagan, A., Murray, J., Atilola, O., Nichols, K., Garcia, J., & Kinner, S.
 (2020). Health determinants of adolescent criminalization. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 4(2), 151-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30347-5</u>
- Janca, E., Keen, C., Willoughby, M., Borschmann, R., Sutherland, G., Kwon, S., & Kinner, S. A. (2023). Sex differences in suicide, suicidal ideation, and self-harm after release from incarceration: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 58, 355-371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-022-02390-z</u>
- Jenkins, R., Bhugra, D., Meltzer, H., Singleton, N., Bebbington, P., Brugha, T., Coid, J., Farrell, M., Lewis, G., & Paton, J. (2005). Psychiatric and social aspects of suicidal behaviour in prisons. *Psychological Medicine*, 35, 257-269. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291704002958

Jones, D., & Maynard, A. (2013). Suicide in recently released prisoners: A systematic review. Mental Health Practice, 17(3), 20-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/mhp2013.11.17.3.20.e846</u>

Joiner, T. E. (2005). Why People Die by Suicide. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

- Joiner, T. E., Pfaff, J. J., & Acres, J. G. (2002). A brief screening tool for suicidal symptoms in adolescents and young adults in general health settings: Reliability and validity data from the Australian National General Practice Youth Suicide Prevention Project. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 40(4), 471-481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016S0005-7967901)00017-1</u>
- Kessler, R. C., Borges, G., & Walters, E. E. (1999). Prevalence of and risk factors for lifetime suicide attempts in the National Comorbidity Survey. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56(7), 617–626. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.56.7.617</u>

- Kessler, R. C., Bossarte, R. M., Luedtke, A., Zaslavsky, A. M., & Zubizarreta, J. R. (2020). Suicide prediction models: A critical review of recent research with recommendations for the way forward. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 25(1), 168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0531-0</u>
- King, C., Senior, J., Webb, R. T., Millar, T., Piper, M., Pearsall, A., Humber, N., Appleby, L., & Shaw, J. (2015). Suicide by people in a community justice pathway: Population-based nested case-control study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 207(2), 175-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.154831</u>
- Klonksy, D. E., Dixon-Luinenburg, T., & May, A. M. (2021). The critical distinction between suicidal ideation and suicide attempts. *Work Psychiatry*, 20, 439-441. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20909</u>
- Klonsky, D. E., & May, A., M. (2015). The three-step theory (3ST): A new theory of suicide rooted in the "ideation-to-action" framework. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy*, 8(2), 114-129. https://doi.org/10.1521/ijct.2015.8.2.114
- Klonksy, D. E., May, A. M., & Saffer, B. Y. (2016). Suicide, suicide attempts, and suicidal ideation. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 12, 307-330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-093204</u>
- Klonsky, D. E., Saffer, B. Y., & Bryan, C. J. (2018). Ideation-to-action theories of suicide: A conceptual and empirical update. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 22, 38-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.07.020</u>

- Klonsky, D. E., Pachkowski, M. C., Shahnaz, A., & May, A. M. (2021). The three-step theory of suicide: Description, evidence, and some useful points of clarification. *Preventive Medicine*, 152(1), 106549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106549
- Labrecque, M. R. & Patry, M. W. (2018). Self-harm/suicidality in corrections. In M. Ternes, P. R. Magaletta, & M. W. Patry (Eds.), *The Practice of Correctional Psychology* (pp. 235-250). Springer.
- Linsley, K. R., Johnson, N., & Martin, J. (2007). Police contact within 3 months of suicide and associated health service contact. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 190, 170-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.106.021857</u>
- Luxton, D. D., Rude, D. M., Reger, M. A., & Gahn, G. A. (2011). A psychometric study of the suicide ideation scale. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 15(3), 250-258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2011.589720</u>
- Ma, J., Batterham, P. J., Calear, A. I., & Han, J. (2016). A systematic review of the predictions of the Interpersonal-Psychological Theory of Suicidal Behavior. *Clinical Psychological Review, 46,* 34-45. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.04.008</u>
- Magaletta, P. R., Patry, M. W., Wheat, B., & Bates, J. (2008). Prison inmate characteristics and suicide attempt lethality: An exploratory study. *Psychological Services*, 5(4), 351-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1541-1559.5.4.351</u>
- Marzano, L., Hawton, K., Rivlin, A., Smith, E. N., Piper, M., & Fazel, S. (2016). Prevention of suicidal behavior in prisons: An overview of initiatives based on a systematic review of research on near-lethal suicide attempts. *Crisis*, 37(5), 323-334.

https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000394
Mills, J. F., & Kroner, D. G. (2005). Screening for suicide risk factors in prison inmates:Evaluating the efficiency of the Depression, Hopelessness and Suicide Screening Form (DHS). Legal and Criminological Psychology, 10(1), 1-12.

https://doi.org/10.1348/135532504X15295

- Mortier, P., Cuijpers, P., Keikens, G., Auerbach, R. P., Demyttenaere, K., Green, J. G., & Bruffaerts, R., (2018). The prevalence of suicidal thoughts and behaviors among college students: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(4), 554-565.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291717002215
- Mowen, T. J., Stansfield, R., & Bown, J. H. (2019). Family Matters: Moving Beyond if family support matters to why family support matters during reentry from prison. Journal of research in crime and delinquency, 56(4), 483–523.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022427818820902

- Moore, K. E., Siebert, S., Brown, G., Felton, J., & Johnson, J. E. (2021). Stressful life events among incarcerated women and men: Association with depression, loneliness, hopelessness, and suicidality. *Health and Justice, 9*, 22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-021-00140-y</u>
- Naud, H., & Daigle, M. S. (2010). Predictive validity of the suicide probability scale in a male inmate population. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 32, 333-342. <u>https://doi.org/10.107/s10862-009-9159-8</u>
- Nishar, S., Brumfield, E., Mandal, S. (2023). "It's a revolving door": Understanding the social determinants of mental health as experienced by formally incarcerated people. *Health & Justice*, 11, 26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-023-00227-8</u>

O'Connor, R. C. (2011). The integrated motivational-volitional model of suicidal behavior. *Crisis, 32*(6), 295-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000120</u>

- O'Connor, R. C. & Nock, M. K., (2014). The psychology of suicidal behavior. *The Lancet Psychology*, *1*, 75-85. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S2215-0366(14)70222-6
- Office of The Correctional Investigator of Canada. (2014). *A three-year review of federal inmate suicides*. <u>https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/pdf/oth-aut/oth-aut20140910-eng.pdf</u>
- Pachkowski, M. C., Hewitt, P. L., & Klonksy, D. E. (2021). Examining suicidal desire through the lends of the three step theory: A cross-sectional and longitudinal investigation in a community sample. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 89(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000546
- Posner, K., Brown, G. K., Stanley, B., Brent, D. A., Yershova, K. V., Oquendo, M. A., Currier, G. C., Melvin, G. A., Greenhill, L., Shen, S., & Mann, J. J. (2011). The Columbia-suicide severity rating scale: Initial validity and internal consistency findings from three multisite studies with adolescents and adults. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *168*, 1266-1277. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10111704
- Power, J., & Brown, S. L. (2010). Self-injurious behaviour: A Review of the literature and implications for corrections. Correctional Service of Canada. <u>https://www.cscscc.gc.ca/research/005008-0216-01-eng.shtml</u>
- Rioux, C., Huet, A. S., Castellanos-Ryan, N., Fortier, L., Le Blanc, M., Hamaoui, S., Geoffroy, M. C., Renaud, J., & Séguin, J. R. (2021). Substance use disorders and suicidality in youth: A systematic review and meta-analysis with a focus on the direction of the association. *PloS one*, *16*(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0255799</u>

Rodriguez S. P., Garcia-Alandete, J., Tejada. B. G., Guillen, V., & Marco, J. H. (2022).
Psychometric properties of the Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire-15 in Spanish adolescents. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *13*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.833400</u>

Roy, R., Crocker, A. G., Nicholls, T. L., Latimer, E., & Isaak, C. A. (2016). Predictors of criminal justice system trajectories of homeless adults living with mental illness. *International Journal of Law & Psychiatry*, 49(A), 75-83

Rudd, M. D. (1989). The prevalence of suicidal ideation among college students. Suicide and Life Threatening Behavior, 19(2), 173-183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-</u> 278x.1989.tb01031.x

Rudd, M.D., Berman, A.L., Joiner, T.E., Nock, M.K., Silverman, M.M., Mandrusiak, M., Van Orden, K. and Witte, T. (2006), Warning signs for suicide: Theory, research, and clinical applications. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 36*, 255262. https://doi.org/10.1521/cmli.2006.26.2.255

262. https://doi.org/10.1521/suli.2006.36.3.255

- Ryan, S. (2024, February 26). Fatality inquiry begins into death at Edmonton remand centre. *Global News*. <u>https://globalnews.ca/news/10319317/fatality-inquiry-edmonton-remand-</u> <u>centre/#:~:text=A%20fatality%20inquiry%20got%20underway,while%20talking%20abo</u> <u>ut%20her%20son</u>
- Shepherd, B. F., Kelly, L. M., Brochu, P. M., Wolff, J. C., & Swenson, L. P. (2023). An examination of theory-based suicidal ideation risk factors in college students with multiple marginalized identities. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 93(2), 107– 119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ort000066 6</u>
- Shneidman, E. S. (1993). *Suicide as psychache: A clinical approach to self-destructive behavior.* Northvale, NJ: Aronson.

- Shortreed, S. M., Walker, R. L., Johnson, E., Johnson, E., Wellman, R., Cruz, M., Ziebell, R.,
 Coley, R. Y., Yaseen, Z. S., Sharmarajan, S., Penfold, R. B., Ahmedani, B. K., Rossom, R.
 C., Beck, A., Boggs, J. M., & Simon, G. E. (2023). Complex modeling with detailed
 temporal predictors does not improve health records-based suicide risk prediction. *Digital Medicine*, 6, 47. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-023-00772-4
- Stack, S. (2021). Contributing factors to suicide: Political, social, cultural, economic. *Preventative Medacine*, 153(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106498</u>
- Stansfifeld, R., Mown, T. J., O'Connor, T., & Boman, J. H. (2017) The role of religious support in re-entry: Evidence from the SVORI data. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquincy*, 54(1), 111-145.
- Teo, D. C. H., Suarez, L., & Oei, T. P. S. (2018). Validation of the interpersonal needs questionnaire of young male adults in Singapore. *PloS One*, 13(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/jounral.pomem/0198839
- Tutton, M. (2024, February 19). N.S. man's letters indicate suicide risk as short-staffed jail kept inmates in cells. *Global News*. <u>https://globalnews.ca/news/10303523/ns-man-burnside-jail-suicide-staffing/</u>
- Tsai, M., Lari., Saffy., & Klonsky, D. E. (2021). Examining the three-step theory (3ST) of suicide in a prospective study of adult psychiatric inpatients. *Behavior Therapy*, 52, 673-685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2020.08.007</u>
- Van Orden, K., A., Cukrowicz, K. C., Witte, T. K., Joiner, T. E. (2012). Thwarted Belongingness and Perceived Burdensomeness: Construct Validity and Psychometric Properties of the Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire. *Psychological Assessment*, 24(1), 197-215. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025358

- Walker, T. Shaw, J., Gibb, J., Turpin, C., Reid, C. Gutridge, K., & Abel., K. (2020). Lessons learnt from women who self harm in prison. *Crisis*, 42(4), 255-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000714</u>
- Webb, R. T., Qin, P., Stevens, H., Mortensen, P. B., Appleby, L., Shaw, J. (2011). National study of suicide in all people with a criminal justice history. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, *68*(6), 591–599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.7</u>

White, J., Marsh, I., Kral, M. J., & Morris, J. (2015) *Critical suicidology: Transforming suicide research and prevention for the 21st century*. Vancouver: UBC Press.

- Wichmann, C., Serin, R., & Motiuk, L. (2001). Predicting suicide attempts among male offenders in federal penitentiaries (R-91, 2000). Forum on Corrections Research, 13(2).
 Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service of Canada. Retrieved from: R91E.PDF (csc-scc.gc.ca)
- Wiglesworth, A., Clement, D. N., Wingate, L. R., & Klimes-Dougan, B. (2022). Understanding suicide risk for youth who are both Black and Native American: The role of intersectionality and multiple marginalization. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 52, 668–682. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12851
- Yessine, A. K., & Bonta, J. (2009). The offending trajectories of youthful Aboriginal offenders. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 51(4), 435–472. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/cjccj.51.4.435</u>
- Yan, T., Cantor, D. (2019). Asking survey questions about criminal justice involvement. *Public Health Reports*, 134(1), 46-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.117/0033354919826566</u>

- Yang, Y., Liu, X., Chen, W., & Ling, L. (2019). A test of the three-step theory of suicide among Chinese People: A Study Based on the Ideation-to-Action Framework. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 23(4), 648-661. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2018.1497563</u>
- Zareian, B., & Klonksy, D. E. (2020). Connectedness and suicide. In A. C. Page & E. G. K. Stritzke (Eds.), *Alternatives to Suicide* (p. 135-153). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814297-4.00007-8</u>
- Zortea, T. C., Cleare, S., Melson, A. J., Wetherall, K., & O'Connor, R. C. (2020). Understanding and managing suicide risk. *British Medical Bulletin*, 134, 73-84. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/Idaa013

Appendix A Informed Consent Form

Examining Factors Related to Suicidal Thoughts and Behaviours Among Individuals with and without Involvement in the Canadian Justice System

Saint Mary's University - REB File ##24-042

Research Team:

Krystal Lowe, Master's Student

Dr. Meg Ternes, Thesis Supervisor

Saint Mary's University, 923 Robie Street, Halifax, NS, B3H 3C3

Krystal.lowe@smu,ca, meg.ternes@smu.ca

Introduction and Purpose of Study

As part of my master's thesis, I am conducting research on suicidality (e.g., suicidal thoughts and behaviors) under the supervision of Dr. Meg Ternes at Saint Mary's University. You are invited to take part in this research, which investigates factors related to suicidal thoughts and behaviours among individuals with and without a history of involvement with the criminal justice system

The purpose of this research is to better understand factors related to suicidality with the goal of contributing to the detection and prevention of suicidality in our society. This research has received funding from the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada and Research Nova Scotia's Scotia Scholars.

Taking part in this anonymous study is completely voluntary and you are free to withdraw your participation at any time, without penalty, for any reason.

Eligibility Criteria

All Canadian residents over the age of 18 are eligible to participate in this research. You do not necessarily need to have a history of suicidal thoughts and behaviours, or a history of involvement in the justice system to participate.

What Does Participating Mean?

Participating in this study means carefully reflecting on your experiences and answering questions as part of an online survey. The questions ask about your experiences and feelings related to suicidality, trauma, and justice-system involvement. You do not have to provide any personally identifiable information, and you may skip any questions you do not wish to answer. The survey takes place entirely online and all information is kept confidential. This is a one-time study that will take you approximately 20 minutes to complete.

What Are the Potential Benefits?

By participating in this study, you will help to advance our understanding of suicidality, which has the potential to inform prevention and intervention efforts that may help people in the future.

What Are the Potential Risks?

Although we believe that the risks of participating in this study are minimal, it is possible that some questions may elicit an emotional reaction. That is, discussing suicide-related topics may be upsetting for some people who may have personal experiences or know someone who has died by suicide. Similarly, recalling involvement with the criminal justice system or potentially traumatic events in life might bring up difficult feelings. As researchers, we do not provide mental health services, and this study does not allow us to link your name to your responses. However, we will provide you with contact information for supports should you decide that you need help at anytime. You are, of course, allowed to withdraw anytime without negative consequences.

If you do experience any sort of distress from this study, you are encouraged to reach out to one or more of the resources below. Additionally, "check-in" notes are placed throughout the survey that will ask you whether you wish to continue or be linked to resources that are relevant to your geographic location. General resources are provided below:

Wellness Together Canada: This is a free, virtual mental health service available to all individuals in Canada. The service connects individuals to peer support workers, social workers, psychologists, and other professionals for confidential chat sessions or phone calls. It provides different levels of support, ranging from information to self-assessment tools. This tool is available 24/7, 365 days a year. For more information, please visit <u>https://www.wellnesstogether.ca/en-ca/</u> or text WELLNESS to 741741 for immediate crisis support.

Talk Suicide Canada: This is a free service available to all individuals in Canada who wish to connect with a crisis responder. The service is available 24/7, 365 days a year. For more information, please visit <u>https://talksuicide.ca/</u> or call 1-833-456-4566. There is also the option of texting for support every day between 4 p.m. and midnight, simply text 45645.

Centre for Suicide Prevention: 1-833-456-4566

Crisis Services Canada: 1-833-456-4566 or text 45645

First Nations and Inuit Hope for Wellness Help Line: 1-855-242-3310

LivingWorks Start is a free, online training that helps people learn about how to have conversations with people who may be contemplating suicide, and how to connect them with the appropriate resources. If you are interested in making a difference in suicide prevention, you may be interested in this course.

For more information, please visit https://livingworks.net/training/livingworks-start/

If you are a SMU Student: you may wish to get in touch with the **Counselling Centre** by phone or email: 902-420-5615 or <u>counselling@smu.ca</u>

- SMU students are also welcome to visit the following resources:
 - Good2Talk (free, confidential support services for students in Nova Scotia) Call 1-833-292-3698 or text GOOD2TALKNS to 686868
 - Togetherall (online peer community moderated by mental health professionals available 24/7 for post-secondary students to get mental health support) visit <u>https://togetherall.com/en-ca/</u>
 - Therapy Assistance Online (free e-mental health resource with modules, selfguided tools, progress measures and a mindfulness library)
 - o Mental Health Mobile Crisis Team call 902-429-8167

What Will Be Done with My Information?

The data we collect is completely anonymous; it will consist of some basic demographic information as well as your thoughts and feelings. The data we gather will not contain any identifiable information. This means that nobody will ever know how you, personally, responded.

The data will be stored on a cloud-based, password-protected server and password-protected computers. Only members of the research team will have access to this data, but we may share this data with other scholars. We will retain the data as long as necessary, and for at least five years after the results have been published.

The study will be conducted on Qualtrics, an online survey platform. Once the data for this study is collected and analyzed it will be shared with the research community through my thesis and potential presentations or publications. Any data that is shared will be presented in a generalized way, and your personal information will not be accessible.

What Type of Compensation is Available?

This survey is expected to take 15 minutes to complete. SMU students enrolled in eligible psychology courses may earn .25 bonus credits towards eligible courses.

There is no compensation for non-SMU participants, although we are incredibly grateful for your time and participation.

How Can I Withdraw from This Study?

You are welcome to withdraw from this study at anytime, for any reason, without risk of consequence. To withdraw and have your data removed, simply click the "withdraw and remove my responses" button in the survey. Please note that, because the survey is anonymous, we will not be able to remove your data if you withdraw by exiting the browser without clicking the "withdraw" button,

How Can I Get More Information?

If you have any questions or concerns related to this study, or if you wish to clarify anything, you are welcome to reach out to any member of the research team.

Faculty Supervisor: Dr. Meg Ternes (meg.ternes@smu.ca)

Masters Student Principal Investigator: Krystal Lowe (krystal.lowe@smu.ca)

If you are interested in receiving more information regarding the results of this study, you will find a summary of results by September 1, 2024, at <u>https://www.smu.ca/fgsr/summaries-of-</u>completed-research.html

Researcher's Conflict of Interest

The researchers on this project do not have a vested interest in the outcome of the study. We have nothing to gain or lose depending on the outcome of this project.

Research Participant Rights & Protection:

The Saint Mary's University Research Ethics Board has reviewed this research with the guidance of the TCPS 2 based on three core principles: Respect for Persons, Concern for Welfare and Justice. If you have any questions or concerns at any time about ethical matters or would like to discuss your rights as a research participant, please contact <u>ethics@smu.ca</u> or 902-420-5728.

Participant Agreement: I understand what this study is about, appreciate the risks and benefits, and that by consenting I agree to take part in this research study and do not waive any rights to legal recourse in the event of research-related harm. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I can end my participation at any time without penalty. I have had adequate time to think about the research study and have had the opportunity to ask questions.

Participant:

- □ Click here if you agree and consent to participate in the study.
- \Box Click here if you do not consent.

Appendix B

Recruitment Material

- 1. Poster/graphic (below is a sample of the poster and resized social media graphic)
- 2. Email script for community organizations/partners

Poster/Graphic:



Email Script:

Dear [Name of Contact or Organization],

I hope this email finds you well. My name is Krystal, and I am a Masters of Science student at Saint Mary's University in the Applied Psychology (Forensic Stream) program. I am currently conducting research for my Masters thesis, under the supervision of Dr. Meg Ternes, which explores the relationship between suicidal thoughts and behaviors in those with a history of involvement with the criminal justice system.

Given your organization's dedication to supporting those who have been involved with the criminal justice system, I felt that you and your clients would have important insights to share on this topic. I believe that by understanding the underlying factors contributing to suicidal thoughts and behaviors among those with a criminal history, we can develop more effective prevention, interventions, and support systems.

I would be incredibly grateful if you could share the information pertaining to this study with those you think may be interested. Alternatively, I can also provide posters and/or handouts with information for your clients if you wish.

Below is a brief overview of the research study.

Study Details:

- **Objective:** to examine suicidal thoughts and behaviours among individuals who have been in contact with the criminal justice system, with the goal of informing better prevention and intervention efforts. Those who participate do not necessarily need to have a history of suicidal thoughts or behaviors.
- **Confidentiality**: the study is completely anonymous, and all data collected is confidential.
- Time Commitment: 15-minute, online survey
- **Research Ethics Clearance:** This research has been reviewed and approved by the Saint Mary' University Research Ethics Board. The REB file number for this study is #24-032.

How to Participate:

• If you are interested in participating or would like more information about the study, please visit <u>https://smuniversity.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_4TUWLMIKfOgZnyC</u>

I understand the sensitive nature of the topic, and I assure you that the care and well-being of participants are at the forefront of my study. Those willing to share their experiences can make a meaningful impact on our understanding of suicidality.

Thank you for your time in attending to this email. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to reach out.

With gratitude,

Krystal Lowe

Appendix C

Survey Materials

Content Warning

Following the informed consent, participants were presented with the following:

A Note on Content: Thank-you for agreeing to participate in this survey. As a reminder, this survey contains questions about sensitive and potentially distressing topics, including experiences with suicidal thoughts and behaviors, involvement with the criminal justice system, and potentially traumatic life events.. Answering these questions may bring up difficult emotions. If, at any point, you experience distress, we hope that you will seek appropriate support. You will find a button throughout the survey that will take you to a page of resources. If you find a question too upsetting, we encourage you to skip that question, indicate "prefer not to answer," or discontinue the survey. You do not need to answer anything you do not want to, and your responses are completely anonymous.

Attention Checks

To account for potential participant distraction or inattentiveness, as well as to filter bots, three "attention check" questions will be placed throughout the survey. These questions are as follows:

- 1. What is 6+3? [multiple choice options: a = 9, b = 18, c = 3, d = 12]
- 2. Please select "neither agree nor disagree" for this question. [x2]

Measure of Criminal Justice Involvement (Brown & Manning, 2013)

- 1. Nowadays, people are often stopped by the police for many different reasons. Since the age of 18, have you ever been stopped by the police?
 - □ Yes
 - □ No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 2. Since the age of 18, have you ever engaged in illegal activities that went undetected or unaddressed by law-enforcement, not including minor traffic violations? (select all that apply)
 - \Box Yes
 - \Box I have engaged in non-violent activities, such as theft, property damage, or fraud.
 - □ I have engaged in violent activities, such as assault, battery, or domestic/intimate partner violence.
 - □ I have engaged in illicit drug-related activities, such as drug possession, distribution, or trafficking.
 - $\hfill\square$ I have sexually assaulted or harassed someone.
 - \Box Other
 - 🗆 No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 3. Since age 18, have you ever been arrested, booked, or charged for breaking the law? ("Booked" means that you were taken into custody and processed by police, even if you were released.)
 - \Box Yes
 - \Box No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 4. [If yes to #3] Since the age of 18, have you ever been arrested or charged with a **non-violent offense**, such as theft, property damage, or fraud?
 - □ Yes
 - □ No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 5. [If yes to #3] Since the age of 18, have you ever been arrested or charged with a **violent offense**, such assault, battery, or domestic/intimate partner violence?
 - \Box Yes

- \Box No
- \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 6. [If yes to #3] Since the age of 18, have you ever been arrested or charged with a **drug-related offense**, such as drug possession, distribution, or trafficking?
 - \Box Yes
 - \Box No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 7. [If yes to #3] Since the age of 18, have you ever been arrested or charged with a **sex-related offense**, such as sexual assault?
 - \Box Yes
 - \square No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 8. Since the age of 18, have you ever been convicted of or pled guilty to any charges other than minor traffic violations?
 - \Box Yes
 - □ No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 9. [If yes to #8] Since the age of 18, have you ever been under any form of criminal justice supervision, including on probation, in jail, or in prison?
 - \Box Yes
 - \square No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 10. Prior to the age of 18, had you ever been arrested, booked, or charged for breaking the law? ("Booked" means that you were taken into custody and processed by police, even if you were released.)
 - \Box Yes
 - \Box No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 11. Prior to the age of 18, have you ever engaged in illegal activities that went undetected or unaddressed by law-enforcement, not including minor traffic violations? (select all that apply)
 - \Box Yes

- \Box I have engaged in non-violent activities, such as theft, property damage, or fraud.
- □ I have engaged in violent activities, such as assault, battery, or domestic/intimate partner violence.
- \Box I have engaged in drug-related activities, such as drug possession, distribution, or trafficking.
- $\hfill\square$ I have sexually assaulted or harassed someone.
- \Box Other
- \square No
- \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 12. [If yes to #10] Prior to the age of 18, did you ever spend time in a juvenile detention center?
 - □ Yes
 - □ No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 13. [If yes to #10] Prior the age of 18, have you ever been arrested, booked, or charged with a **non-violent offense**, such as theft, property damage, or fraud?
 - □ Yes
 - □ No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 14. [If yes to #10] Prior to the age of 18, have you ever been arrested, booked, or charged with a **violent offense**, such assault, battery, or domestic violence?
 - □ Yes
 - \Box No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 15. [If yes to #10] Since the age of 18, have you ever been arrested booked, or charged with a **drug-related offense**, such as drug possession, distribution, or trafficking?
 - \Box Yes
 - \Box No
 - $\hfill\square$ Prefer not to answer.
- 16. [If yes to #10] Since the age of 18, have you ever been arrested, booked, or charged with a **sex-related offense**, such as sexual assault?
 - \Box Yes
 - \square No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.

- 17. [If yes to #10] Prior to the age of 18, were you ever subject to extrajudicial sanctions? (e.g., restitution or compensation, service to community or victim, participation in counselling).
 - □ Yes
 - □ No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.

Screening for Lifetime Prevalence of Suicidality - Adapted from the Self-Injurious Thoughts and Behaviors Interview (SITBI; Nock et al., 2017)

These questions ask about your thoughts and feelings of suicide and self-injurious behaviors. Please read them carefully and respond as accurately as you can.

Suicidal Ideation

- 1. Have you ever had thoughts of killing yourself?
 - \Box Yes
 - \square No
 - $\hfill\square$ Prefer not to answer.

Non-suicidal Self-Injury

People sometimes have thoughts about hurting themselves without wanting to die. Other times they actually do things to hurt themselves.

- 2. Have you ever had thoughts of purposely hurting yourself without wanting to die? (e.g., cutting or burning
 - \Box Yes
 - \square No
 - $\hfill\square$ Prefer not to answer.
- 3. Have you ever actually purposely hurt yourself without wanting to die?
 - \Box Yes
 - □ No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.

Suicide Attempt

- 4. Have you ever made an actual attempt to kill yourself in which you had at least some intent to die?
 - \Box Yes
 - \Box No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.

Suicide Plan

- 5. Have you ever actually made a plan to kill yourself?
 - \Box Yes
 - \square No
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.

Suicide Ideation Scale (Rudd, 1989)

Using the scale below, please indicate the degree to which you agree or disagree with the following statements:

<i>Never or none of the time</i>				Always or a great many of times
1	2	3	4	5

- 1. I have been thinking of ways to kill myself
- 2. I have told someone I want to kill myself
- 3. I believe my life will end in suicide
- 4. I have made attempts to kill myself
- 5. I feel life just isn't worth living
- 6. Life is so bad I feel like giving up
- 7. I just wish my life would end
- 8. It would be better for everyone involved if I were to die
- 9. I feel like there is no solution to my problems other than taking my own life
- 10. I have come close to taking my own life.

Psychache Scale (Holden et al., 2001)

Using the scale below, please indicate the degree to which you agree or disagree with the following statements:

Strongly disagree	Strongly			
				agree
1	2	3	4	5

1. I feel psychological pain

2. I seem to ache inside

- 3. My psychological pain seems worse than any physical pain
- 4. My pain makes me want to scream
- 5. My pain makes my life seem dark
- 6. I can't understand why I suffer
- 7. Psychologically, I feel terrible
- 8. I hurt because I feel empty
- 9. My soul aches
- 10. I can't take my pain anymore
- 11. Because of my pain, my situation is impossible
- 12. My pain is making me fall apart

Beck Hopelessness Scale (Beck et al., 1974)

Please consider the following statements and indicate whether they are true or false:

- 1. I look forward to the future with hope and enthusiasm
- 2. I might as well give up because I can't make things better for myself
- 3. When things are going badly, I am helped by knowing they can't stay this way forever
- 4. I can't imagine what my life would be like in 10 years
- 5. I have enough time to accomplish the things I most want to do
- 6. In the future, I expect to succeed in what concerns me most
- 7. My future seems dark to me
- 8. I expect to get more good things in life than the average person
- 9. I just don't get the breaks, and there's no reason to believe I will in the future
- 10. My past experiences have prepared me well for my future
- 11. All I can see ahead of me is unpleasantness rather than pleasantness
- 12. I don't expect to get what I really want
- 13. When I look ahead to the future, I expect I will be happier than I am now

14. Things just won't work out the way I want them to

15. I have great faith in the future

16. I never get what I want so it's foolish to want anything

17. It is very unlikely that I will get any real satisfaction in the future

18. The future seems vague and uncertain to me

19. I can look forward to more good times than bad times

20. There's no use in really trying to get something I want because I probably won't get it

Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire (Van Orden et al., 2012)

The following questions ask you to think about yourself and other people. Please respond to each question by using your own current beliefs and experiences, NOT what you think is true in general, or what might be true for other people. Please base your responses on how you've been feeling recently. Use the rating scale below to indicate how true each statement is for you. There are no right or wrong answers, we are interested in what you think and feel

Not at all true for me						Very true for me	
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	

1. These days the people in my life would be better off if I were gone

- 2. These days the people in my life would be happier without me
- 3. These days I think I am a burden on society
- 4. These days I think my death would be a relief to the people in my life
- 5. These days I think the people in my life wish they could be rid of me
- 6. These days I think I make things worse for the people in my life
- 7. These days, other people care about me **
- 8. These days, I feel like I belong **
- 9. These days, I rarely interact with people who care about me **
- 10. These days, I am fortunate to have many caring and supportive friends

- 11. These days, I feel disconnected from other people**
- 12. These days, I often feel like an outsider in social gatherings**
- 13. These days, I feel that there are people I can turn to in times of need**
- 14. These days, I am close to other people**
- 15. These days, I have at least one satisfying interaction every day**

** Belongingness subscale Items 7, 8, 10, 13, 14, & 15 are reverse coded.

The Suicide Capacity Scale (Klonsky & May, 2015)

Using the scale below, please indicate the degree to which you agree or disagree with the following statements:

Strongly disagree					
				agree	
1	2	3	4	5	

1. I've always been able to handle pain more easily than other people

- 2. I've never really been afraid of death
- 3. I can handle more physical pain than I used to
- 4. Over time, I've gotten less afraid of dying
- 5. If I ever wanted to, I'd know how to kill myself
- 6. If I ever wanted to, I'd have access to the method/means I would use to kill myself

Life Events Checklist for DSM-5 (LEC-5; Weathers et al., 2013)

The following questions ask about specific experiences some people have throughout their life. Please answer the following questions based on your experiences over the course of your life.

		T						
Event		Yes,	Yes,	Yes,	Don't	Doesn't	Prefer	
		happened	witnessed	learned	know	applu	not to	
		to me	it	about it			answer	
1. Natural disaster (ex: flood, hurricane, tornado, earthquake)								
2.	2. Fire or explosion							
3.	Transpor	rtation accide	nt (ex: car ac	cident, boat	acciden	t, train wr	eck, plane o	crash)
4.	Serious a	accident at wo	ork, home, or	during recr	eational	activity		
5.	Exposure	e to toxic sub	stance (ex: da	angerous ch	emicals,	radiation))	
6.	Physical	assault (ex: b	being attacked	d, hit, slapp	ed, kicke	ed, beaten	up)	
7.	Assault	with a weapon	n (ex: being s	shot, stabbed	d, threate	ened with	a knife, gur	n, bomb)
8.	Sexual a	ssault (rape, a	attempted rap	e, made to	perform	any type c	of sexual ac	t through
	force or	threat of harn	n)	-	-			-
9.	9. Other unwanted or uncomfortable sexual experience							
10.	Combat	or exposure t	o a war-zone	(in the mili	tary or a	s a civilia	n)	
11. Captivity (ex: being kidnapped, abducted, held hostage, prisoner of war)								
12. Life-threatening illness or injury								
13. Severe human suffering								
14. Sudden violent death (ex: homicide, suicide)								
15. Sudden accidental death								
16. Serious injury, harm, or death you caused to someone else								
17. Any other very stressful event or experience								

Demographics

Before we finish up, we would like to invite you to complete a few demographic questions so we can describe our sample. Please note that all answers are anonymous and kept confidential. None of the responses you provide are connected to any identifying information.

1. What year were you born?

[Dropdown menu]

- 2. What is your gender identity?
 - \Box Woman
 - □ Man
 - \Box Non-binary
 - □ Two-spirit
 - \Box Transgender
 - \Box Other.
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 3. What is your sexual orientation?
 - □ Heterosexual/Straight
 - □ Gay
 - \Box Lesbian
 - \Box Bisexual or Queer
 - □ Two-spirit
 - \Box Unsure or question
 - \Box Other
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.
- 4. To which of the following racial or cultural groups do you belong? (Select all that apply)
 - \square Black
 - □ First Nations, Metis, Inuit
 - \Box East/Southeast Asian
 - □ Latino
 - □ Middle Eastern
 - \Box South Asian
 - \Box White
 - \Box Other
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.

5. In which region of the world were you born?

[Dropdown menu]

- □ Africa (e.g., Ghana, Nigeria. South Africa etc.)
- □ Asia (e.g., China, Indonesia, Pakistan, Philippines etc.)
- □ Europe (e.g., Western and Eastern Europe; Britain, France, Poland, Russia etc.)
- □ Latin/South America (e.g. Mexico, Argentina, Brazil)
- □ Middle East (e.g., Middle East and North Africa; Turkey, Egypt, Jordan etc.)
- □ North America (e.g., Canada, United States)
- Decific/Oceania (e.g. Australia, New Zealand, Samoa etc.)
- 6. In which Canadian province or territory do you currently reside?

[Dropdown menu]

- □ Alberta
- □ British Columbia
- \Box Manitoba
- \Box New Brunswick
- $\hfill\square$ Newfoundland and Labrador
- \Box Northwest Territories
- □ Nova Scotia
- □ Nunavut
- \Box Prince Edward Island
- \Box Quebec
- \Box Saskatchewan
- □ Yukon
- 7. What is the highest level of education you have completed?
 - \Box Some highschool but did not finish
 - □ Highschool diploma or equivalent
 - \Box Some college or university
 - □ College diploma or certificate
 - □ Undergraduate university degree
 - \Box Master's degree
 - \Box Doctorate
 - \Box Prefer not to answer.